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Member Consultation
Multicultural Council of Saskatchewan
AGM and Member Consultation

La Troupe du Jour | 914 - 20th Street West, Saskatoon, SK

Agenda
9:30 a.m.

Registration

9:45 a.m.
		

Creative Conciliation
Lamarr Oksasikewiyin: Treaties and Reconciliation

11:30 a.m.

MCoS member examples: Reconciliation and BRIDGES projects

12:00 p.m.
		

Lunch with member announcements
Greetings from Eric Olauson, MLA for Saskatoon University

1:00 p.m.

Member Consultation (with draft 2019-23 Strategic Plan)

2:30 p.m.

Break

2:45 p.m.

Annual General Meeting
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Conclusion

Call to Order
Approval of Agenda
Appointment of Scrutineers
Minutes of Past Meeting – June 17, 2017
MCoS Annual Report - President’s Report
Treasurer’s Report
6.1 Presentation of Audited 2017-18 Financial Statements
6.2 Appointment of Auditors for 2018-19
Constitutional Amendments
Elections
Other Business
Additional Announcements
Adjournment

Table of Contents
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President’s Message
As I complete my term as
MCoS President, several
accomplishments are
worth highlighting. We
carried out incredible
work focusing on achieving
our ends. Through strong
governance and leadership,
we made strategic choices
and directed our efforts to
advance capacity building,
enhance partnerships,
create welcoming and
inclusive communities, support multicultural values and
build relationships with Indigenous communities.
As cultural diversity in Saskatchewan has grown, the
need has increased for MCoS to remain ever vigilant
of rising racist sentiments. Cultural expressions
are sometimes viewed as stereotypes leading to
prejudices about specific cultural, religious and ethnic
communities. To counter these, MCoS anti-racism
advocacy has become more imperative.
In unison with Canada’s national commitment to Truth
and Reconciliation, MCoS has strategically focused on
supporting multicultural communities to be aware of
the contributions of and harms inflicted upon First
Nations and Métis communities. Through our programs
such as BRIDGES, Youth INVOLVE, and youth leadership
workshops, MCoS has focused on creating respectful
connections among multicultural and Indigenous
individuals and communities.
MCoS recognized Canada 150 by implementing the
#WelcomeHome150: Creating Welcoming and Inclusive
Communities project (WIC). We are now focused on
legacy building via the successes of WIC by promoting
the tool with our stakeholders for building and
enhancing inclusion and respect.
The Multicultural Honours event continues to recognize
outstanding achievements in promoting multicultural
values. All of our award recipients in the past two years
have helped raise appreciation for diversity, as well as
demonstrated ways of building respectful relationships

among Indigenous, multicultural and newcomer
communities in Saskatchewan.
With our increased capacity in education, MCoS trains
facilitators and directly delivers services, thereby
contributing to understanding of diversity and its
benefits in many organizations. This has also started to
show positive impact on MCoS’ financial resources.
MCoS is making good progress in securing its financial
future both by being accountable and developing
strong relationships with funders, and by committing a
dedicated annual amount to the reserve.
I acknowledge the incredible contributions of my board
colleagues who are committed and passionate about
MCoS values and ends. We say thank you and bid a fond
farewell to three board members: Bruno Kossmann
joined the board in 2008 and was a significant voice in
guiding the organization to the current healthy state,
serving as director, treasurer, president and pastpresident. Renata Cosic’s board service from 2014–2018
as director and secretary helped bring to the board table
a youthful energy and fresh perspective. Harvey Knight
has brought wisdom and a strong voice for connection
with Indigenous communities since 2014.
My particular thanks are to our Executive Director who,
along with her staff, has gone above and beyond to
deliver innovative programming, partnerships, education
and secure new funding.
It has been my honour and privilege to serve the
multicultural community of Saskatchewan. MCoS’
strategic directions and programs continue to address
the evolving nature of diversity in Saskatchewan
ensuring that multiculturalism becomes central to
the cultural, social, economic, and political life of
Saskatchewan.
MCoS is appreciative of the strong support we receive
annually from SaskCulture, the Ministry of Parks, Culture
and Sport, Ministry of Education, and the Department of
Canadian Heritage. MCoS and all our stakeholders work
together and share multicultural values every day to
bring Saskatchewan and MCoS’ motto to life: From Many
Peoples Strength.

Asit Sarkar, President
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Executive Director’s Message
The past year for MCoS has seen increasing interest
in the five streams of multicultural work. Our Canada
150 project, #WelcomeHome150: Creating Welcoming
and Inclusive Communities (WIC) has sparked growth
in both capacity and demand for education, training
and support. There has been an ongoing evolution
of BRIDGES and general interest and attention to
intercultural relationships. We have become an expert
source for media who often approach us for comments
and community connections.
MCoS uses the five streams of multicultural work,
flowing from the four multicultural values, to direct
our programming and support the multicultural
community to enrich Saskatchewan. While the streams
overlap and support one another, each is distinct. We
describe the streams and values in this report and
illuminate them through feature stories. These and so
many more activities create a ripple-effect to make
multiculturalism central to life in Saskatchewan.
The WIC project made an enduring impact through
the pledge, facilitator training and the toolkit, which
was endorsed by the Saskatchewan Urban Municipality
Association (SUMA) and adopted by several communities.
I see the relationships developed with SUMA, Sport,
Culture and Recreation districts, municipalities,
settlement agencies and immigration gateways as
springboards for a lasting legacy in Saskatchewan.
The recognition of the importance of intercultural
relationships has gained attention. The ongoing
evolution of BRIDGES with our provincial and local
partners gives me hope at a time when the need to
address racism is clear. MCoS recognizes the rights
and responsibilities we hold under treaty and the
opportunities for individual and collective action
provided by the Truth and Reconciliation Commission.
We exercise our vital role when we work with others
to share the stories and perspectives of Indigenous
peoples in order to recognize historical and current
colonial oppression. As part of our journey towards
a respectful and harmonious shared future, MCoS
strengthened its commitment by expanding and
deepening partnerships with Indigenous organizations in
the spirit of reconciliation and collaboration. We have
seen increasing funding requests from members and
schools for Indigenous-focused projects centered on
intercultural relationships and efforts towards the long,
hard work to rebuild communities, institutions, and a
province based on respect, rather than racism.

MCoS is fortunate to be
led by a visionary board
whose governance and
strategic direction ensures
our success. I want to
thank Asit Sarkar for his
leadership and critical
thinking over the past two
years, which has moved
MCoS forward in its vision,
mission and strategic
directions.
One of the amazing things about MCoS is that we have
achieved our ends with a small, smart, talented and
hard-working team: Titilayo Omolola, Andrea MacLeod,
Thuy Truong, Justin Waldrop, Jamal-e-Fatima Rafat,
Yordanos Tesfamariam and Christine van der Merwe. I
also want to recognize all the trained facilitators across
the province who help deliver our programming. When
I listen to the news, almost every story (local, national,
global) is connected to our work. There is so much work
to do; the challenge is to choose where, how and with
whom we can have the most impact across the province.
MCoS supports work in the community through funding,
made possible with the dedicated volunteers on the
Allocations and Multicultural Education Initiatives
Committees. We also thank all the organizations that
submit projects for their commitment to making
multiculturalism central by strengthening capacity in all
the streams of multicultural work.
MCoS has been able to engage in relationship building
with funders, partners and members based on common
values and goals that help all involved to achieve their
Ends. I am infinitely grateful for the ongoing support
from SaskCulture, Saskatchewan Lotteries, Ministry
of Parks, Culture and Sport, Ministry of Education,
the Department of Canadian Heritage, and the South
Saskatchewan Community Foundation.
I look forward to continuing to promote the
multicultural values in our communities and embody
the provincial and MCoS motto, From Many Peoples
Strength, as we strategically advocate for diversity,
anti-racism and equity for all Saskatchewan residents.

Rhonda Rosenberg, Executive Director
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About the Multicultural Council
of Saskatchewan
The Multicultural Council of Saskatchewan (MCoS) has been raising awareness of the benefits of cultural
diversity and the dangers of racism since November 22, 1975. In 2015, MCoS celebrated 40 years of making
multiculturalism matter. The Council was created to represent six regional multicultural councils and joined
by a variety of multicultural, ethnocultural and educational groups. MCoS currently represents 66 member
organizations (plus 19 individuals and 2 business/institution/government), which include thousands of volunteers
committed to promoting the benefits of multiculturalism. MCoS also worked with 55 partners this
past year on a variety of projects and events. MCoS became a provincial not-for-profit, non-governmental
agency that works to ensure ethnocultural survival, strength and prominence and foster opportunities for crosscultural interaction.
We support our members and the public with promotional campaigns and materials (including Multifaith
Calendars), a monthly electronic newsletter, investment in programs that accomplish our goals, information
and community connections, workshops and other learning opportunities. We maintain an involvement with
SaskCulture that has included establishing the Multicultural Initiatives Fund and serving as the Secretariat for the
Multicultural Community of Interest.

Our Vision
Multiculturalism is central to the cultural, social, economic and political life of Saskatchewan.

Our Mission
The Multicultural Council of Saskatchewan is committed to promoting, fostering, improving and
developing multiculturalism in the cultural, social, economic and political life of Saskatchewan while
working to achieve equality of all residents.

Our Aims & Objectives
a. To promote recognition of the benefits of cultural diversity in Saskatchewan and assist in the
development and acceptance of multiculturalism.
b. To recognize and promote the Saskatchewan motto: From Many Peoples Strength and the
Saskatchewan Multicultural Act.
c. To foster an environment in which organizations and individuals can contribute to the
multicultural development of Saskatchewan.
d. To promote positive cross-cultural relations through cross-cultural communication, contact
and understanding.
e. To recognize the special contribution which refugees and immigrants bring into our province
and assist in the integration process through education.
f. To recognize the special contributions which First Nations and Métis people provide to our
province and encourage cultural competency and intercultural connections.
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•

MCoS has Served as a Leader
November 22, 1975 - Multicultural Council of Saskatchewan (MCoS) founded in Regina.

•

We are particularly proud to have been part of the creation of the provincial motto: From Many
Peoples Strength (Multis e Gentibus Vires), a powerful statement about who we are – past, present
and future.

•

Member of the Saskatchewan Committee for the Elimination of Racism in Sport and Recreation.

•

Development, management and distribution of Multicultural Education Initiatives (MEI) to schools to
encourage understanding and interest in multiculturalism.

•

1987-2008: Member funding for operations and projects, supporting various groups and projects in
Saskatchewan focused on multiculturalism, understanding, integration and the elimination of racism.

•

2009 onward: Strategic Investment in member projects that advance our mission, aims and objectives.

•

Promoting multicultural events and projects around the province to members and the general public.

•

Youth conferences and workshops on the subject of anti-racism and multiculturalism, including Youth
Action Now with Ukrainian Canadian Congress-Saskatchewan Provincial Council (UCC-SPC) and current
Arrêt/Stop Racism workshops.

•

Organizing seven national conferences held in Saskatchewan on multicultural matters.

•

Promoting our cultural heritages across the country during Saskatchewan’s Centennial year.

•

We Are SK PSA project is a partnership between seven organizations – Aboriginal Friendship Centres
of Saskatchewan (AFCS), Conseil Culturel Fransaskois (CCF), MCoS, Saskatchewan Film Pool (SFP),
Saskatchewan German Council (SGC), Saskatchewan Organization for Heritage Languages (SOHL), and
UCC-SPC with support from the Ministry of Parks, Culture and Sport. This project features six PSAs
with the following themes: Culture is a Two-Way Street; From Many Peoples Strength; Cold Land, Warm
Hearts; Look Beyond the Surface; Home and Overcoming Discrimination. The PSAs have been available
through broadcast, website (www.WeAreSk.ca) and on social media.

•

Multicultural Forum in honour of the 40th anniversary of the Saskatchewan Multiculturalism Act in
partnership with the Ministry of Parks, Culture and Sport.

•

Multicultural Honours event hosted by The Honourable Vaughn Solomon Schofield, Lieutenant Governor
of Saskatchewan that recognizes significant contributions to the multicultural community. Betty
Szuchewycz and Youth Leadership Awards are presented annually.

•

Building Relationships Interculturally through Dialogue and Growing Engagement in Saskatchewan
(BRIDGES) with the Aboriginal Friendship Centres of Saskatchewan (AFCS) and Saskatchewan
Association of Immigrant Settlement and Integration Agencies (SAISIA). Work has included research
and consultations, a pilot project in Prince Albert, and a series of Indigenous Welcome events for
Syrian refugees, Youth BRIDGES in Regina and organizational networking in Saskatoon.

•

Integrating Newcomers with Volunteer Opportunities to add Leadership Value through Education
(INVOLVE) is a partnership with SAISIA, SaskCulture and Regina Open Door Society (RODS). A very
successful pilot was run in Regina in 2015 and another in Weyburn in 2017. Facilitator training took
place in April 2017 making it available in numerous communities. Youth INVOLVE launched as a pilot
project in 2018 as a partnership with North Central Family Centre and RODS with 47 participants.

•

Integration Forum with SAISIA and SaskCulture in October 2015.

•

Welcoming and Inclusive Communities (WIC) project in 2016-18. Activities include the Welcome Home
Pledge (over 300 taken), facilitator training (over 40 trained) and WIC Toolkit endorsed by SUMA and
adopted by over 20 communities so far.
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Members and Partners
Non-Profit
Organizations
African-Canadian Resource Network Saskatchewan Inc.
Afro Sepo
Albert Park Community Association
Ambassadors for Christ Ministries Inc.
Association of United Ukrainian Canadians (Regina)
Bhutanese Nepali Community of Regina Inc.
Bravo Regina Winterfest Inc. (Waskimo)
Canadian Roots Exchange
Canahari Multidisciplinary Programs
Communauté des Africains Francophones (CAFS)
Cultural Connections Regina
Doukhobor Cultural Society of Saskatchewan
Equatorian Southern Sudanese Community Association
in Saskatoon Inc. (ESSCAS)
Family Service Saskatoon
Ghanaian-Canadian Association of Saskatchewan
Girl Guides of Canada - Saskatchewan Council
Global Youth Education Network (Next Up)
Heritage Community Association
Heritage Festival of Saskatoon
Heritage Alliance Saskatchewan Inc.
Humboldt Regional Newcomer Centre
Igbo Cultural Association of Saskatchewan Inc.
Inclusion Regina
Karen Community of Regina Inc.
Moose Jaw Multicultural Council Inc.
Multi-Faith Saskatchewan
Multinational Association of Russian Speakers of Regina
Muslims for Peace and Justice
Ness Creek Cultural & Recreational Society Inc.
Philippine Immigrants Network Alliance of
Saskatchewan Inc.
Prairie Somali Canadian Centre
Prince Albert Multicultural Council
Regina Chinese Canadian Association
Regina Dragon Boat Festival
Regina Folk Festival
Regina Immigrant Women Centre
Regina Japanese Canadian Club
Regina Jazz Society Inc.
Regina Multicultural Council
Regina Open Door Society Inc.
Regina Public Interest Research Group (RPIRG)
Rielco Productions
River City School of Irish Dance Inc.

8

Rwandese Community of Regina Inc.
Saint Sava Serbian Cultural Club Inc.
Sâkêwêwak Artists Collective Inc.
Saskatchewan African Canadian Heritage Museum Inc.
Saskatchewan African Fashion
Saskatchewan Archaeological Society
Saskatchewan Association on Human Rights/ Spring
Free From Racism
Saskatchewan Caribbean-Canadian Association
Saskatchewan Intercultural Association
Saskatchewan Library Association
Saskatchewan Somali Refugee Sponsorship Association
Saskatoon Folkfest Inc.
Saskatoon Open Door Society
Shakespeare on the Saskatchewan
Société Historique de la Saskatchewan Inc.
Southeast Newcomer Services
Southern Saskatchewan Summer Solstice Festival d'été
Southwest Multicultural Association
Southwest Newcomer Welcome Centre
Teachers of English as a Subsequent Language (TESL
SASK)
Uganda Canadian Association of Saskatchewan (UCAS)
WeCan Charity Organization
Yorkton Short Film and Video Festival

Individuals
Asit Sarkar
Bruno Kossmann
Bob Lesperance
Cassandra Hepworth
Darlene Stakiw
Harvey Knight
Jebunnessa Chapola
Julio Torres-Recinos
Kam Teo
Larry Neufeld
Lynn Lau
Meka Okochi
Muna De Ciman
Neeraj Saroj
Ranjan Datta
Renata Cosic
Shelley Belhumeur
Terri Sleeva
Xiao Feng Zhang

Business/Institution/
Government
City of Lloydminster
City of Yorkton

Partners
Aboriginal Friendship Centres of Saskatchewan
Access 2 Clean Water
Affinity Credit Union
Amnesty International
Business for the Arts
Carlton Trail Regional College
Chinook School Division
City of Regina
City of Saskatoon
Common Ground Consulting
Conseil Culturel Fransaskois
Dance Saskatchewan
Department of Canadian Heritage
Heather Ritenburg
Immigration, Refugees and Citizenship Canada
Indian and Métis Friendship Centre of Prince Albert
Kikinahk Friendship Centre, La Ronge
Lakeland District for Sport, Culture and Recreation
Lieutenant Governor’s Office
MacKenzie Art Gallery
Ministry of Education
Ministry of Parks, Culture and Sport
Ministry of Public Safety and Emergency Preparedness
New Dance Horizons
Newo-Yotina Friendship Centre

North Central Family Centre
Northern District for Sport, Culture and Recreation
Parkland Valley District for Sport, Culture and
Recreation
Prairie Central District for Sport, Culture and
Recreation
Regina Farmers’ Market
Regina Public Library
Regina Summer Stage
Regina Symphony Orchestra
Rivers West District for Sport, Culture and Recreation
Saskatchewan Association of Immigrant Settlement and
Integration Agencies
Saskatchewan Council for International Cooperation
Saskatchewan German Council
Saskatchewan Government and General Employees’
Union
Saskatchewan Human Rights Commission
Saskatchewan Lotteries
Saskatchewan Orchestral Association
Saskatchewan Organization for Heritage Languages
Saskatchewan Settlement Workers in Schools
Saskatchewan Urban Municipalities Association
Saskatchewan Writers’ Guild
Saskatoon Indian and Métis Friendship Centre
SaskAbilities
SaskCulture
Southeast District for Sport, Culture and Recreation
Southwest District for Sport, Culture and Recreation
SK TEAL
Tonight it’s Poetry
Ukrainian Canadian Congress - Saskatchewan Provincial
Council
University of Regina
YWCA Prince Albert

WELCOMING & INCLUSIVE COMMUNITIES

Communautés accueillantes et inclusives
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MCoS Board of Directors
MCoS is governed by an elected Board of Directors. The diverse wisdom and devotion the directors
bring to their road work on vision and policy complements the dedication of the staff to achieve and
advance multiculturalism and demonstrate the provincial motto: From Many Peoples Strength. These
volunteers serve as cultural ambassadors in all areas of the province. The current directors were
elected in June 2016 or June 2017 at the MCoS AGM to serve a two-year term.

President
Asit Sarkar

Past-President
Bruno Kossmann

Vice-President
Neeraj Saroj

Treasurer
Meka Okochi

Secretary
Renata Cosic

Director
Julio Torres-Recinos

Director
Cosanna Preston-Idedia

Director
Muna De Ciman

Director
Ranjan Datta
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Director
Bob Lesperance

Director
Harvey Knight

MCoS Staff

Executive
Director
Rhonda Rosenberg

Executive
Assistant
Titilayo Omolola

Communications and
Marketing Coordinator
Justin Waldrop

Education and BRIDGES
Coordinator
Yordanos Tesfamariam

WIC Project
Coordinator
Jamal-e-Fatima Rafat

Education and BRIDGES
Coordinator (Interim)
Christine van der Merwe

Office and Project
Assistant
Farheen Mehtab

Administrative
Assistant (Interim)
Chloe Thuy Truong

Multicultural Values
Multicultural values are rooted in the provincial motto From Many Peoples Strength and the treaty
relationships that define our province. All MCoS work is guided by these values, which are expressed as:

Respect for Diversity
We recognize the multicultural diversity of the people of Saskatchewan. We believe in the strength of
supporting cultural continuity and pride in one’s cultural ancestries. We celebrate the sharing between
cultures because culture is a two way street.

Recognition and Rejection of Racism
We recognize the negative impact of racism and discrimination. We promote the importance of all
people in overcoming these issues to achieve equitable outcomes for all Saskatchewan residents.

Intercultural Connections

We actively support and encourage efforts to bring communities together in ways that will build
relationships based on understanding and respect to foster capacity for problem solving and planning.

Integration
We support welcoming and inclusive communities that create a sense of home and belonging. We
recognize the creativity and innovation that arise from bringing different cultural perspectives together
and cultivating the unique contributions of all.
11

Streams of Multicultural Work
Cultural
Continuity
Celebration
of Diversity

Anti-Racism

Intercultural
Connections

Integration
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Cultural Continuity empowers ethnocultural
organizations, individuals and communities to retain,
maintain and evolve distinctive cultural practices and
traditions in the Canadian context. Supported through
investments in Strategic Initiatives and showcased at events such
as Multicultural Celebration at the MacKenzie Art Gallery.

Celebration of Diversity includes education

and festivals that showcase differences and similarities,
most often through performance, cuisine and other arts.
It includes an awareness that groups that welcome many
perspectives, especially from different cultural world views, lead
to greater creativity and innovation. Sponsorship of major events, such
as Mosaic, Folkfest, Motif, as well as some Strategic Initiative and many
Multicultural Education Initiative investments.

Anti-Racism work looks at issues of power and

privilege and how they impact individual and systemic
discrimination; it usually includes active dialogue to
build equity and justice in our institutions and communities.
MCoS coordinates an annual March 21 campaign, facilitates Arrêt/
Stop Racism Youth Leadership Workshops and invests in member and school
activities that recognize and reject racism and discrimination.

Intercultural Connections entails different
cultural groups coming together over time to build
bridges i.e. exchanges, pen pals, cooperative work, creating
safe spaces, dialogue, creative projects, etc. Investments
through Intercultural Connections are good examples, as is the BRIDGES
project in partnership with Aboriginal Friendship Centres of Saskatchewan
(AFCS) and Saskatchewan Association of Immigrant Settlement and
Integration Agencies (SAISIA).

Integration is focused on facilitating the process
newcomers to Canada or a community experience beyond
settlement to become part of their new communities. It
includes seeing themselves and being seen as contributors and
feeling welcome to be themselves in many contexts. INVOLVE is a
current partnership with SAISIA and SaskCulture to nurture newcomers as
volunteer leaders. The Welcoming and Inclusive Communities project has
significant impact in this stream.

Investments & Funding 2017-18
MCoS Funding and Grant Programs
Program Name

Total # Funded

Total $ Funded

Strategic Initiatives

19

$36,300.00

Regional Multicultural Councils

6

$14,000.00

Multicultural Education Initiatives (MEI)

27

$10,693.03

Sponsorships

17

$22,000.00

March 21 Events

9

$9,030.00

78

$92,023.03

Total:

Provincial Public Education Campaigns
Campaign Name

Investment

March 21 Programming, including Arrêt/Stop Racism youth
leadership workshops and public forums

$37,070.92

Saskatchewan Multicultural Week

$19,458.21

Other, including Celebrate Canada, African-Canadian/Black
History Month and Asian Heritage Month

$10,087.06

Total:

$66,616.19

Projects and Partnerships
Name / Title

Investment

BRIDGES and INVOLVE

$21,822.29

Welcoming and Inclusive Communities

$135,950.51

Celebrate Canada Multiculturalism Day, National Highway to
Harmonious Canada (Multi-Faith SK), Righting Relations,
International Women’s Day, Living Heritage Symposium
Total:

$5,210.93
$162,983.73
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MCoS Strategic Directions &
STRATEGIC DIRECTION #1: The capacity of MCoS is strengthened.
1.1.

Ensure the financial
sustainability
of MCoS

1.2.

Optimize and enhance
the capacity of MCoS

i. SaskCulture AGF allocation 2017-18 is 2% more than 2016-17.
ii. In addition to the continuation of the Canadian Heritage grant for WIC of
$134,250 in 2017-18, we partnered with member Multi-Faith Saskatchewan to
access South Saskatchewan Community Foundation funding. Education revenue
is increasing.
iii. Total self-generated revenues from calendar sales, memberships, education,
sponsorships and partnership contributions is $53,268.14, allowing us to
enhance programming and build a reserve fund, now at over $50,000.
i. The board completed the initial task of establishing definitions and measures:
1. Sufficient financial resources to reach our Ends. This is achieved and can be
measured through Objective 1.1. MCoS requires more communications,
education, and administrative support.
2. The Board has the knowledge, skills and information to define and support
the Ends. The board participated in Lifecycles, sustainability and strategic
planning workshops.
3. Staff have knowledge, skills and support to achieve the Ends. Staff are
involved with professional organizations, webinars, MCoS workshops, etc.
This includes free and fee opportunities.
4. MCoS is able to support the membership to work towards Ends achievement.
This is achieved by sharing information (newsletter, website, social media,
and in-person meetings), education and training, advice and support,
funding, connections, and campaigns with resources and tools for action for
participation.

STRATEGIC DIRECTION #2: The capacity of the multicultural community is strengthened.
2.1.

Enhance support to
members with a focus
on Regional Councils

i. MCoS supported six projects from four regional councils with $14,000 from the
Regional Multicultural Councils fund: One Strategic Initiative for $2,500, three
sponsorships for $5,500, and Folkfest for $2,500. There was strong uptake of
both Saskatchewan Multicultural Week and March 21 activities and campaigns.
We held one meeting and are planning for at least one in 2018-19.

2.2. Strengthen the
capacity to develop,
recruit and retain
leaders who have the
knowledge and skills
to foster
organizational
strength and stability.

i. Achieved: INVOLVE in Regina and Weyburn, and Youth INVOLVE, which took
place in the context of Youth BRIDGES. INVOLVE facilitator training through
WIC of 26 people throughout the province.
ii. Survey of stakeholder perceptions of MCoS to articulate positioning statement.
Plans for two member development sessions in 2018-19.

2.3.

i. All activities funded by MCoS foster multicultural values in the community;
those working at a deeper level receive higher funding. Strategic Initiatives: 34
requests for $71,749; 19 granted $36,300. Regional Multicultural Councils: 6
requests for $18,000; 6 granted $14,000. Multicultural Education Initiatives
(MEI): 29 requests for $11,046.20; 28 granted $10,246.20. Sponsorships: 22
requests for $34,650; 17 granted $22,000. March 21 funding allowed for MCoS
to support local Show Racism the Door projects in Regina (2), Saskatoon,
Prince Albert, Swift Current (2), North Battleford, Humboldt, Yorkton,
Estevan, and Moose Jaw.
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Nurture a deeper
understanding,
acceptance and
demonstration of
multicultural values in
the multicultural
community

2017-18 Accomplishments
STRATEGIC DIRECTION #3: Governments and institutions are demonstrating a commitment to
supporting cultural diversity, inclusion and new immigrants through their actions, policies and
programs.
3.1

Provide governments
and institutions with
tools to create inclusive
workplaces, policies and
services that reflect
multicultural values.

i. Development and distribution of 200 Welcoming and Inclusive Communities
toolkits distributed with SUMA endorsement. Facilitator training on Modules
1-5 and increasing requests for presentations, including from institutions and
government branches. Joint advocacy with partners. Eleven proclamations for
Saskatchewan Multicultural Week (most ever). Show Racism the Door
campaign in schools, institutions, government branches, as well as members.

STRATEGIC DIRECTION #4: Multicultural values are widely reflected in the community.
4.1.

Facilitate public forums
to discuss and advance
multicultural values

i. MCoS held public forums on racism in La Ronge on March 8 and Regina on
March 21. We partnered with the Regina Symphony Orchestra, Saskatchewan
Orchestral Association and others to link March 21 to South Pacific.

4.2. Implement the Advocacy
and Public Education
Strategy

i. Achieved through Saskatchewan Multicultural Week “Who's your multicultural
superhero?” campaign, Show Racism the Door campaign, African-Canadian
Black History Month, International Women's Day, media stories, social media,
anti-racism 101 web page and other strategies. Outreach to build
relationships and offer learning opportunities.
ii. Recognized the benefits of multiculturalism and contributions of the
community with the multicultural superhero campaign (to be repeated in
2018). Some of those who have challenged racism are highlighted in the Show
Racism the Door campaign. The WIC tool kit includes ways for municipalities,
organizations and businesses to provide recognition.

4.3.

Promote multicultural
values to young people,
including those born to
immigrant parents,
newcomers, Indigenous
and established
Canadians, to encourage
belonging

i. Education and BRIDGES Coordinator is in place as a permanent position.
Arrêt/Stop Racism youth leadership workshops took place in Maple Creek, La
Ronge, and Regina. The Show Racism the Door activity kit is appealing to
schools. MEI funding reaches young people across the province. Youth
BRIDGES connects youth who are often marginalized in Regina and supports
them to develop skills and ways to share perspectives; they went to Mosaic,
Treaty 4 celebrations and engaged in Youth INVOLVE.

4.4.

Support welcoming and
inclusive communities

i. The Welcoming and Inclusive Communities Project: 384 pledges, 200 Toolkits
distributed, 47 individual facilitators trained through three training
opportunities. All resources continue to be available on our website. WIC
presentations and workshops took place at several Sport, Culture and
Recreation Districts. INVOLVE and several funded member activities also
support integration.

STRATEGIC DIRECTION #5: Recognition and appreciation for the historical and current
contributions of Saskatchewan’s Indigenous people, including relationships to the land, are
foundations for a respectful and harmonious shared future.
5.1. Enhance opportunities

to engage in meaningful
intercultural
connections and
relations that build on
mutual understanding
and a shared stake in
shaping the future.

i. Interest in this area is high. Continuing to work with provincial partners AFCS

and SAISIA on BRIDGES. Activities in Regina, Saskatoon and Prince Albert.
Excellent part-time coordinator for Saskatoon; funding until July 2018.
Funded several member projects in this area. Supported 3 Strategic
Initiatives, 1 Regional Multicultural Council, 1 Sponsorship, and at least 14
MEI projects.
ii. Fully integrated new content and activities, developed by an Indigenous
consultant, in the Arrêt/Stop Racism workshops to understand Indigenous
cultures, acknowledge colonial history, the legacies of residential schools and
commit to TRC Calls to Action.
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Programs and Services
The Multicultural Council of Saskatchewan invests in its members and the multicultural community of
Saskatchewan through its programs and services: A) Multicultural Education Initiatives, B) Strategic
Initiatives, C) Regional Multicultural Councils, D) Sponsorships and E) MCoS Initiatives & Partnerships.
We present highlights of our programs and services organized by the five streams of multicultural work:
1) Cultural Continuity, 2) Celebration of Diversity, 3) Anti-Racism, 4) Intercultural Connections and 5)
Integration. We also present highlights that involve all five streams.

1. Cultural Continuity

Empowers ethnocultural organizations, individuals and communities to retain, maintain and
evolve distinctive cultural practices and traditions in the Canadian context.

Reclaiming and reviving the
Karen culture
The Indigenous people of Burma have celebrated
the Karen New Year in Burma for thousands of
years. Despite the Burmese government’s oppressive
military campaign over the past sixty years to
erase Karen culture through conflict and attempted
assimilation, the Karen people fight to prevent the
loss of their remaining traditional music and dancing.
With few resources, New Year celebrations became
the focus of cultural continuity efforts, offering a
minimal opportunity for Karen youth to learn about
and experience their own cultural traditions. The
traditional Karen New Year is now celebrated here
in Canada with the intention of engaging youth in
cultural practices.

makes me proud of myself to be a Karen," declares Saw
Sha Moo.

‘‘

In previous years, the Karen Traditional New Year was
celebrated as a small-scale activity. This year, however,
the participation of over 400 people of all ages showed
significant changes toward unity among Karen people.
The encouraging speeches delivered from different
Saskatchewan leaders and supporters united Karen
youth to work together to save their endangered
culture. "I have never seen Karen cultural dancing like
this before, so this is my first time seeing them and it

‘‘

I have never seen Karen cultural
dancing like this before, so this is my
first time seeing them and it makes
me proud of myself to be a Karen.
- Saw Sha Moo
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This year Karen people from different cities such as
Saskatoon, Moose Jaw, Prince Albert and Winnipeg
joined us here in Regina. Some of them helped us
with the implementation and transportation for
the ceremony. Karen New Year is an interesting and
important event for the Karen community, and people
from other cities in Saskatchewan have indicated that
they want to join celebrations of Karen New Year in
the future, either in Regina or in a different city every
year. It is important to keep this culture alive even
though they live far from their ancestral homeland.
Participant Saw Emanuel agrees saying, “If we keep
celebrating our Karen New Year like this every year, our
culture will be alive for our Karen people for the future
for over a century.”

If we keep celebrating our Karen New
Year like this every year, our culture
will be alive for our Karen people for
the future for over a century.
- Saw Emanuel

Moreover, the Karen community invited other cultures
to join the celebration based on the underlying belief
that understanding and supporting of each group's
culture will generate equality and enhance the spirit
of unity. They welcomed guests from China, Cambodia,
Thailand, Vietnam, Afghanistan and African nations,
as part of building a network to engage in promoting
cultural diversity in Saskatchewan. These intercultural
connections will bring unity and hope between
everyone to live as one in a multicultural country.

“The presence of different ethnicities and nationalities
at this celebration built bridges to one another for
sharing traditions and values to new generations.
This year we had plenty of food from different

contributions, particularly through a funding project so
we were so successful for this time,” observes Saw
Blaw Htoo.

Matsuri festival brings
together Japanese
community

Some Japanese Canadians who were not previously
involved in the community attended Matsuri; this is
an important aspect of cultural continuity. The event
received media attention with a radio interview before
the event and three television interviews during the
event.

There are many Japanese communities all over
the world, which hold Matsuri for the community
members and other local people. This event was the
first attempt for the Regina Japanese Club to hold a
public Japanese festival, since the Regina Japanese
community is too small to run a pavilion at Mosaic.

‘‘

Matsuri was very successful in bringing people in the
community together to learn and share about various
aspects of Japanese culture. Over 1,000 people
attended this family-friendly event. Participants of all
ages were able to experience Japanese food, drink,
dance, music, martial arts, and traditional clothes with
many opportunities for interaction.

It was an awesome event and even
though it was the first Matsuri in
Regina, I hope it is not the last.
- Participant

One participant expressed that it was awesome to find
both his grandfather’s and mother’s names written in
Japanese in a book that displayed the club history.
Another participant said that it was an awesome event
and even though it was the first Matsuri in Regina, she
hopes it is not the last.
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Celebrating cultural at a
deeper creates respectful
relationships
Saskatchewan benefits from numerous celebrations of
cultural continuity and diversity, many of these driven
by MCoS members. As part of the education offered
through the Welcoming and Inclusive Communities
project, MCoS provided a session at the 2017 annual
general meeting (AGM) to provide understanding
and tools for deeper cultural learning. It included an
opportunity for our members, partners and funders
to go beyond the visible aspects of culture and into
the deeper aspects of culture such as beliefs, values,
worldview, history, relationships, roles, attitudes and
norms. This allows our community to move the meaning
of multiculturalism beyond the sometimes superficial
understanding people have held in the past.
We invited people who share their culture in ways that
convey underlying values, worldview, relationships,
etc. in the context of performance. We used the
iceberg model of culture that demonstrates that
what is visible is an expression of deeper meaning.
The day started with traditional storyteller, Mary
Chipanshi sharing interactive African stories. The
Ranch Ehrlo Pow Wow Group shared traditional dances
and their meanings. MCoS staff Jamal-e-Fatima Rafat
and Farheen Mehtab facilitated a language lesson on
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Hindi and Urdu, teaching participants to write their
names in both scripts. Clark’s Clan of Scottish Dance
shared traditional dances and the stories behind each.
YouTube sensation Chef Mariana Brito of Malinche
shared her love of Mexican food and its role in fostering
culture and connections. Finally, MCoS board and staff
shared aspects of their own cultures and why they are
meaningful. We videotaped the education session for
use in other workshops and sharing.
A key take away is that when we have no personal
cultural frame of reference, we learn about others as
different, exotic, strange, weird and primitive. It is
important to understand ourselves as living in culture,
and this creates a cultural lens through which we
understand ourselves, others and the world, in order
to explore other cultures with respect and seeing them
as equal. When we share at a deeper level, we find
important commonalities that can help us connect,
and differences that spark essential, if difficult,
conversations. Both of these are integral to building
welcoming and inclusive communities.
The session provided many practical ideas that groups
presenting festivals, activities, and presentations to
celebrate cultural diversity and continuity can put into
practice. The more we create opportunities for deeper
cultural learning, the more we and our audiences
will have the perspectives and tools to make our
communities more respectful, engaging and prosperous
for everyone.

Annual Michif Language
Festival preserves and
promotes Métis culture
At the heart of the historic Métis community of
Ile-a-la-Crosse, the second oldest community in
Western Canada, sits Rossignol Elementary and High
schools. Each year, Rossignol hosts a Michif Language
Festival where 300 students participate along with
approximately 200 community members who attend the
evening showcase and visit the outside tent classrooms.
The local radio station features the students’ voices
with interviews and live recordings. “The community
of Ile-a-la-Crosse has long been recognized as a strong
Métis community, in which the Michif Language is
spoken at every event. The traditional practices of
survival skills are passed on to the younger generations.
The language is spoken and taught at both schools
and used as a means of communication in our local
radio station,” proudly explains Louis Roy, CILX radio
announcer.
Project coordinator and educator, Edna Daigneault
clarifies that as teachers and knowledge keepers of
their culture and language, they have a responsibility
to ensure that the Michif language survives. “I want to
say it has been wonderful seeing the efforts the staff
and students have put into making the Michif Language
Festival a success every year. I most enjoy the plays
and singing performed in Michif,” says Elder and
knowledge keeper, Dorothy Dubrule with enthusiasm.
“Having the M.C. speaking in our Michif language, the
great fiddling and jigging done by the students and the
laughter it brings - thank you for bringing tremendous
joy and laughter to the community.”
Daigneault outlines the education process explaining
that they begin in the fall by setting up a three-day
tent classroom outside their school by Ile-a-la-Crosse
Lake, where elders - the knowledge keepers - teach
the students by providing hands-on opportunities

in learning and observing through modelling and
demonstration. “Students learn skills such as bannock
making by fire, preparing wild game such as fish,
ducks, and moose, and collecting berries to make
mînsâpoy.” Students complete this celebration in early
spring, after month-long rehearsals and practice.
Then they showcase students’ skills in speaking their
Michif language through song and dance at the Michif
Language Festival.
“The Michif Language Festival in our high school is
very important to us as young people. It is a time
when we get to see first-hand how our ancestors
lived and survived with less than nothing. We learn
how to set a fish net in the winter using a handmade
jigger and to prepare the fish for eating. During this
hands-on learning, the elders speak to us in our Michif
language,” explains Daveiry Lance Belanger, President,
Student Representative Council. “So, yes we do benefit
from our tent classroom and we enjoy performing in
our language for the community and our parents.”
Noteworthy, Rossignol will be celebrating its 20th annual
Michif Language Festival in the upcoming 2018-19
school year - a milestone for the community, their
language and schools.
Rossignol staff provide other programming lessons
and supplement this with periodic trips to their
Amiskowîsti Outdoor Learning Centre. This celebration
of their Michif language proves to be an effective
tool in connecting with their community, families and
students. Additionally, through the Gabriel Dumont
Institute, the staff are helping to develop a Michif
language app, which will enrich their students’
experiences with the Michif language.

‘‘

The Michif Language Festival in our
high school is very important to us
as young people. It is a time when
we get to see first-hand how our
ancestors lived and survived with less
than nothing...
- Daveiry Lance Belanger, President,
Student Representative Council
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Serbian Day offers a deeper
look at Serbian culture

family. It is wonderful to be able to share my culture so
freely and openly with so many people in my new home
country.”

Many valuable connections and friendships were formed
during Serbian Day, a public event hosted by the Saint
Sava Serbian Cultural Club with the goal to promote
Serbian culture, language and traditions. On this day,
people had the opportunity to enjoy traditional dances
and songs from Serbia performed by local folk dance
group St. Sava. There were fun activities for the kids
of all ages such as a photo shoot stand and even an
opportunity to learn some Serbian language! It was
especially important for the Serbian Youth Dance
Group, who had the opportunity to present Serbian
culture and perform in front of a large audience.

The St. Sava members were very proud and honoured
to be a part of this historical event as this was a very
first public Serbian cultural event held in Saskatoon.
Many participants stated that their hearts were filled
with so much joy because they felt like they were
back in their homeland again. About 60 people from all
cultural backgrounds enjoyed watching the program
and many participated directly by trying out Serbian
dancing.

‘‘

He [Serbian Poet Ljuban Klobucar]
moved us deeper in the water, below
the water level, so the audience could
see the hidden side of the cultural
iceberg.
- Jelena Bogunovic, Project Organizer
and St. Sava Member

Serbian poet Ljuban Klobucar read his poetry that
served to present Serbian core cultural values to
the audience. “He moved us deeper in the water,
below the water level, so the audience could see the
hidden side of the cultural iceberg,” observes project
organizer and St. Sava member Jelena Bogunovic. “It
was an honour to participate in such an event because
it made me feel like I was back in my homeland again
dancing, laughing and celebrating with my friends and
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”As a choreographer and a dancer participating in
this cultural event, I was very proud to learn that
tremendous success has been achieved in spreading the
awareness of our culture not only throughout the city
but to areas outside of our city and province as well,”
states St. Sava member Jelena Zerajic with pride. “I
remember that day there was a family that came from
North Battleford to watch us perform and they ended
up joining our club and our dance group after the
event. We have also made valuable connections with
many other cultural organizations and communities
after posting pictures and videos of the cultural day on
social media.”
This Serbian Day also received great attention from
various media sources such as Star Phoenix, Global
News and CTV News, which further extended the
awareness of our cultural group to people who have not
attended the event. As the event had significant impact
on community, many new members have since joined
the dance group.

2. Celebration of Diversity

Includes education and festivals showcasing differences and similarities, through performance,
cuisine and other arts. It provides an awareness that groups that welcome many perspectives,
especially from different cultural world views, lead to greater creativity and innovation.

Multicultural Festival
highlights cultural aspects
of students’ countries of
origin

‘‘

students also learned from their teacher who is of
Scottish ancestry how to make shortbread and what
shortbread represents.

As a feature of the Dorintosh School Multicultural
Festival, students researched their family culture to
create a display of articles and artifacts. They created
flags and displays of their family country of origin. They
invited parents, seniors and community members to
a potluck dinner and encouraged them to bring a dish
from their own culture. Before the dinner, the students
held a parade of flags, and after eating, students
showed off their displays.
The festival brought community members together
with students, which they all enjoyed. John Osborne,
Community member and senior citizen expressed his
enjoyment saying, “I think the Multicultural Festival
was fabulous. There were so many different dishes to
try and the people discussing their dishes and which
country they were from.”

[The festival] is an opportunity for
students, staff and community members
to share their culture, background and
history in a culturally responsive way.
- Mr. Radford, Principal/Teacher

Learning about other cultures was very exciting for
the students and staff. Taking these skills home is also
very special for the students in continuing to celebrate
diversity. Mr. Radford, Principal/Teacher was pleased
with the festival observing it is, “an opportunity for
students, staff and community members to share
their culture, background and history in a culturally
responsive way.”
The impact of a multicultural festival is that students
learn information about other cultures and understand
the differences between cultures. Since they have a
better understanding, students are more accepting
towards others. Grade 6 student Martina echoes this
sentiment saying, “I like learning about the other
students' cultures as it makes you understand more
about them.”

‘‘

A highlight of the students’ projects was a presenter
of Ukrainian and Polish ethnicity who spoke to the
students about her cultural background. She facilitated
a hands-on activity of making pierogis. She discussed
the pierogi, how it was very cheap to make and is very
filling. The students made enough so they could taste
them take some home for their families. The younger

I like learning about the other students’
cultures as it makes you understand more
about them.
- Grade 6 student Martina
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South Sudanese and
Indigenous Peoples
celebrate together towards
tomorrow
The Annual Conference and Celebration of Diversity
and Culture, held by the Equatorian South Sudanese
Community Association in Saskatoon Inc. (ESSCAS)
in Saskatoon in August 2017, can be described as
successful and historic. The theme of the event,
Together towards Tomorrow, was emphasizing
community building, integration and cross-cultural
connections.

‘‘

For the first time ever, the event brought together
participants from the South Sudanese community across
Saskatchewan and various parts of Canada and the
United States of America, as well as the Muskeg Lake
Cree Nation, Saskatoon and general public. Dignitaries
and guests spoke at the conference, attended by 295
participants from all walks of life, including newcomers
to Canada, students from elementary to postsecondary, community leaders and volunteers.
“The highlight of this event was the introduction of
the South Sudanese people to the Indigenous people
through an official warm welcome to Treaty 6 Territory
by Felix Thomas, Saskatoon Tribal Council Chief,
Harry Lafond, Office of the Treaty Commissioner
Executive Director and Carol Lafond from Muskeg
Cree Nation,” recounts project coordinator, Senos
Timon, with gratitude. “The two groups were able to
build new intercultural connections, celebrate their
diversity, and foster mutual respect for all people. This
promotes harmony and understanding among different
ethnicities, as well as maintaining their cultural
heritage.”
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Another event highlight was the spectacular cultural
performance featuring Indigenous and South Sudanese
communities who shared their cultures through
traditional dances, storytelling and unique cultural
displays. Added to this was the historic friendly
intercultural exhibition soccer match between these
two communities. All participants learned a key lesson
of friendship and solidarity from the traditional First
Nations round dance, in which everyone held hands
and danced together to affirm that we are all treaty
people.

The collaboration between the
Equatorian South Sudanese Community
in Saskatoon and the Muskeg Lake Cree
Nation is a significant milestone in our
community as it has forged a strong longterm relationship with the Indigenous
people.
- Senos Timon, Project Coordinator

“The collaboration between the Equatorian South
Sudanese Community in Saskatoon and the Muskeg Lake
Cree Nation is a significant milestone in our community
as it has forged a strong long-term relationship with
the Indigenous people,” proudly explains Timon.
The nature of this partnership provides everyone
involved the opportunity to learn and understand both
Indigenous and Sudanese people, histories, cultural
practices and ceremonies. This event also serves
as an example for other immigrant communities in
Saskatchewan to connect with Indigenous people,
promote collaboration and embrace multiculturalism.
Community members felt encouraged to be involved in
building healthy communities that care for everyone’s
well-being (economical, social, environmental and
cultural) at grass root levels. “This event has created
an avenue for dialogue in searching for reconciliation in
our communities and cities,” states Timon.

Women celebrate caring
and solidarity across
cultures
International Women’s Day is an annual highlight for
many people and organizations. In Regina, a group of
organizations forms a partnership to recognize and
celebrate International Women’s Day. This year, the
Multicultural Council of Saskatchewan with Regina
Immigrant Women Centre, the MacKenzie Art Gallery,
Intercultural Grandmothers Uniting, a program of
the University of Regina’s Lifelong Learning Centre,
Saskatchewan Council for International Cooperation,
SaskAbilities, Amnesty International, and New Dance
Horizons joined together to host an event focusing on
the theme Press for Progress through Care.
This annual collaborative community-building project
includes interactive programming at the MacKenzie
Art Gallery where women can connect through art,
conversation and dance with women from various
cultural backgrounds. This year’s event featured
celebration of self-care and awareness through
interactive performances and activities incorporating
First Nations Dance, Indian Classical Dance and Psyche
Soma Yoga. Participants were able to share stories
of caring for themselves, others and each other
from many cultural perspectives. The atmosphere
encouraged creativity, contribution as a community
and relaxed conversation, which are important for full
participation. The organizers recognize the opportunity
to build relationships across cultures and this is an
essential factor in supporting integration and creating
welcoming and inclusive communities.

themselves and others across different cultures. She
was extremely happy with the event and said that she
would want to participate next year.
After the MacKenzie Art Gallery programming,
participants take a bus to the Albert Street Bridge to
be part of the international movement, Meet Me on the
Bridge, where everyone is welcome. This movement
symbolizes women coming together in solidarity and
celebration across differences. This year, Sisters of
Mercy choir led participants in “Quiet” by MILCK, a
song of women’s empowerment that emerged in the
#MeToo movement. In an act of solidarity, participants
tied ribbons on the bridge for missing and murdered
Indigenous women, girls and two-spirited people. This
is not only a very positive act for the women involved,
but is also well received by drivers and receives
excellent media coverage.
This International Women’s Day partnership continues
to evolve. Organizers will continue this public
expression of women’s resilience in the face of many
challenges. It not only draws attention to International
Women’s Day, but also invites participation from male
supporters.

Regina Immigrant Women Centre client, Suraiya, was
present at the event and she mentioned that the
event helped her connect with other women in the
community. She learned how women take care of
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3. Anti-Racism

This work looks at issues of power and privilege and how they impact individual and systemic
discrimination; it usually includes active dialogue to build equity and justice in our institutions
and communities.

Show Racism the Door and
#MarchOutRacism
March 21 Background

The United Nations (UN) designates March 21 as
the International Day for the Elimination of Racial
Discrimination. It is a day observed all around the
world to focus attention on the problems of racism and
the need to promote racial harmony. The UN made this
designation in 1966 to mark a tragic event that took
place on March 21, 1960 in Sharpeville, South Africa
when 69 peaceful demonstrators were killed during a
protest against apartheid. Canada was one of the first
countries to support the UN initiative and launched
its first annual campaign against racial discrimination
in 1989. The March 21 campaign was initiated to
heighten awareness of the harmful effects of racism
on a national scale and to clearly demonstrate the
commitment and leadership of the Government of
Canada to foster respect, equality and diversity. MCoS
coordinates and supports campaigns and activities
in Saskatchewan communities and schools with
contributions from many partners to recognize March
21 and use it as a springboard for the year-long work to
recognize and reject racism.

About the Campaign

As a springboard into the March 21 campaign, MCoS
also offers free anti-racism facilitation workshops and
anti-racism youth leadership workshops annually. This
year we hosted them in Swift Current/Maple Creek,
La Ronge and Regina. We also hosted a public forum
on racism in Regina in partnership with the Regina
Symphony Orchestra using the anti-racism messaging
from the musical South Pacific and new work from
Ecole Wascana Plains students as the impetus for
discussion. Thanks to the generous support of the
Ministry of Education, we were able to offer free antiracism facilitation workshops and anti-racism youth
leadership workshops as well as host a public forum
on racism in La Ronge. Over 150 students, educators
and members of the public attended all these events,
providing opportunities for deep learning, discussion
and a framework for conducting anti-racism work in
their own communities.

Record Community Involvement
MCoS also supports members, regional multicultural
councils and partners to host March 21 related events.
This year, there were a record number of events - 15
across the province. Some event highlights include:
•

Every year, in recognition of March 21: International
Day for the Elimination of Racial Discrimination,
MCoS executes a provincial anti-racism educational
campaign. This year’s campaign features the
theme Show Racism the Door and the hashtag
#MarchOutRacism. Everyone could participate in the
campaign through a Show Racism the Door activity kit.
To encourage participation in the campaign, we invite
members, funders, partners, schools, workplaces,
faith groups, etc. to download the free activity kit and
execute it leading up to March 21. This Show Racism
the Door activity kit can be used anywhere, as part of
another event or a stand-alone activity. The activity
kit can raise awareness of racism: how it works, the
damage it causes and how we can recognize and reject
it. There was great uptake on the activity kit with
many social media posts, which received a lot of shares
and conversations.
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•

•

City of Yorkton: The Godfrey Dean Art Gallery
hosted some “guerrilla art” to mark and celebrate
International Day for the Elimination of Racism.
The gallery organized public readings of the
Universal Declaration of Human Rights on the
steps of Yorkton City Hall, the Court House and the
Gallagher Centre. Additionally, in Yorkton there
was a film screening of Cognitive Justice – 150
Years of Indigenous Education and a KAIROS Blanket
Exercise.
Swift Current: Newcomers and ESL students of
Great Plains College participated in an Asian
cultural experience where the Korean and Chinese
students taught other students how to use
chopsticks and the cultural experience around food
was discussed. They also read a book on Rosa Parks
and discussed Viola Desmond's experience of racism
in Canada.
Saskatoon: The sixth annual Reel to Real film
festival featured Reel Injun and Colonization
Road. The students in attendance for Reel Injun
received a visual demonstration on the negative

•

stigmas and stereotypes associated with Indigenous
people, specifically First Nations, and how these
are portrayed in the movie industry. The evening
also featured an amazing performance by Curtis
Peeteetuce, followed by a panel discussion with
Lindsay Knight and Judy White.
Battlefords: The Battleford Immigration Resource

Centre and the community participated in a march
and speeches to #MarchOutRacism with the purpose
to demonstrate that no matter our skin colour
or our background, we are all human and fellow
community members. A key message of this event
is that stopping racism starts with every single
person.

Photo Booth: Campaign Participation
View a collection of photos that capture participation in the Show Racism the Door campaign and its related
activity kit, the Arrêt/Stop Racism Youth Leaderships Workshops and events held by other organizations across the
province in recognition of March 21. The Multicultural Council of Saskatchewan is both honoured and proud of the
participation across Saskatchewan and we hope to increase interest in our campaign next year.
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Saskatchewan
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4. Intercultural Connections

Entails different cultural groups coming together over time to build bridges through exchanges,
cooperative work, creating safe spaces, dialogue, creative projects, etc.

Cultural collaborations
through mindful creative
writing course
“We live in a world that is divided. We build
judgements and create stereotypes about people we
do not know. Even though we often live, work and
learn beside each other - we do not really know each
other. When we know each other and really listen to
each other’s stories or experience, we can then come
to learn from each other,” explains educator Kyla
McIntyre, laying down the reasoning for the SheldonWilliams Collegiate Mindful Creative Writing course,
designed to shift this narrative.

in front of the school. Cat uses her professional artist
experience to support students to truly find and share
their voices.
Grade 11 student, Amie LeGrand, reflects upon the
impact of the mindful creative writing course: “In
creative writing, we talk about the culture of everyone
in the class and get to know each other and what they
have experienced. We talk about the uncomfortable
topics and write about them in poems, songs and
speeches - this opens our minds. The work that I have
seen from my classmates is astounding. To have such
students at Sheldon just shows how multicultural we
are as a school and that we are more unified than we
realize... I’ve learned that fear or uncertainty creates
prejudice and this leads to the act of discrimination,
by learning about each other this is where we can end
discrimination.”

‘‘ ‘‘
...When we know each other and
really listen to each other’s stories or
experience, we can then come to learn
from each other...
- Kyla McIntyre, Educator

There are 14 students in this class. They come from
many different cultures and languages. Some are
newcomers and some are born in Canada. Some
speak fluent English and others are just beginning.
This course actively encourages students of different
backgrounds to come together to share their stories
of experience with each other. One of the main goals
of this course is to support belonging and inclusion,
facilitating intercultural connections. Throughout this
course, students learned about their own stories and
were given tools to share them with others. Instead of
learning about culture and diversity from books and the
internet, students learn from each other and create
relationships. The process of creative writing and
practicing mindfulness each day forms a community of
learners.
A Multicultural Education Initiatives grant from MCoS
partially supports spoken word artist Cat Abenstein
to work with this class. She is a weekly presence and
supports students through all phases of their writing
from drafting, editing, sharing and even performing
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...I’ve learned that fear or uncertainty
creates prejudice and this leads to the
act of discrimination, by learning about
each other this is where we can end
discrimination.
- Amie LeGrand, Grade 11 Student

During the school’s March 21 celebration, students
share the work they have created in class and this
ripples through the school community to create true
inclusion and belonging. Students have an opportunity
to hear stories of experience from cultures they likely
would not otherwise hear. These students also share
their work at a school celebration attended by over
500 students. The media is invited to this event as
well and then their stories are shared worldwide.
Some of the poems were recorded for CBC and then
played over the radio. In addition, many students have
shared work created in this class at other events such
as reconciliation events, a Settlement Support Workers
in Schools (SSWIS) conference and an English as an
Additional Language (EAL) teacher’s conference. In
addition, in 2017, the students published a book with
Saskatchewan Council for International Cooperation
(SCIC) - so the work that is developed in the course
becomes part of the community.
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Exchange program
offers youth intercultural
connections and learning
Canadian Roots offers exchange programs that bring
together groups of Indigenous and non-Indigenous youth
from diverse backgrounds for a week-long experiential
exchange that focuses on leadership development,
reconciliation and community building through group
and personal reflection.
The Saskatoon-Whitehorse program started with youth
from various backgrounds in Saskatoon coming together
and meeting and sharing their passions and interests
with each other. Then they connected with their “twin”
participant from Whitehorse through social media
and were able to engage in shared learning through
questions and answers.

Building capacity for
intercultural understanding
to move forward in
reconciliation
"Education got us into this mess and education will get
us out.” - Senator Murray Sinclair, Chief Commissioner
of the Truth and Reconciliation Commission
Canadians are compelled to work toward reconciliation
following the release of the Truth and Reconciliation
Commission’s 94 Calls to Action in 2015. The Calls to
Action are meant to redress the legacy of residential
schools and advance the process of Canadian
reconciliation. As education is a key component in
this process, Sedley School, Broadview School and
Whitewood School wished to focus some of their

All the youth came together and met in Saskatoon. The
week consisted of considerable intercultural dialogue
that included facilitated conversations on topics such
as intersectionality, power and privilege, displacement,
consent, colonization and reconciliation. The youth
participated in activities to learn from and work with
local community members. Lastly, the youth went on
field trips to learn about the history of Saskatoon, the
people and the land.
A common statement made by participants is, “Before
this exchange, it was hard to make to friends. I just
didn’t want to make friends, but I made friends here!
It’s not cliquey, like high school can be. I feel like I can
just be myself here.” Other statements have involved
culture such as, "I have really learned a lot more about
Indigenous culture, traditions and history. It makes
me want to go home and learn my own culture and be
proud of who I am."

work this year on a cultural performance that would
highlight intercultural connections and accessed
MCoS Multicultural Education Initiative grants for
this purpose. The Hip Hop Hoop Dance performance,
featuring Terrance Littletent and Chancz Perry and
organized by the Organization of Saskatchewan Art
Councils (OSAC) School Touring Program, seemed a
perfect fit.
Broadview School educator and organizer, Brigitte
Laroche clarifies that, “this performance as well as
the lesson planning beforehand helped our students
develop a greater understanding as well as meaningful
connections through experiential learning, from being
exposed to culturally relevant material that was both
entertaining and inspirational. Students learned the
history of the Treaties and our Indigenous people in
Canada, and enjoyed learning from these two talented
performers.”
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Within the Truth and Reconciliation Commission's Calls
to Action, Education for Reconciliation, it states that
there should be a commitment to building student
capacity for intercultural understanding, empathy and
mutual respect. The Hip Hop Hoop Dance performance
fits into this tradition; the cultural-fusion aspect of
this particular performance provides students with
touch points of commonalities between cultures, rather
than differences. "It told about the five hoops and that
hoop dancing tells stories,” summarizes one Grade 7
student. “It was so cool watching all the tricks they can
do with hoops, and I liked learning about First Nations
symbols through dance moves,” says a Grade 6 student.
It told about the five hoops and that
hoop dancing tells stories.

‘‘

- Grade 7 Student
It was so cool watching all the tricks they
can do with hoops, and I liked learning
about First Nations symbols through
dance moves.
- Grade 6 Student
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“As a rural school in a community that is not visibly
diverse, having this particular performance at our
school shows our students a more multicultural face
of our province and country. These important points
of commonalities over differences, and the beauty of
diversity, were brought home to students while they
were entertained,” explains Sedley School educator
and organizer Terelyne Vadeboncoeur.
The culmination of this project for Sedley School
students was responding to the intercultural
performance through visual art. The work of all
students was displayed on two bulletin boards that
are centrally located in the school. Older students
in particular found it interesting that Indigenous and
African-Canadian cultures have so many similarities.
Performances at Sedley and Broadview School were
open to the public, and several community members
attended the performance. They were very thankful
for the experience and indicated that they enjoyed the
performances, which were something new and exciting
for the communities at large.

Finding common ground
and bridging cultures
through deeper sharing and
learning
BRIDGES
BRIDGES (Building Relationships through Intercultural
Dialogue and Growing Engagement in Saskatchewan)
is a provincial partnership between the Multicultural
Council of Saskatchewan (MCoS), the Aboriginal
Friendship Centres of Saskatchewan (AFCS) and the
Saskatchewan Association for Immigrant Settlement
and Integration Agencies (SAISIA).
BRIDGES fosters improved working relationships
between local Aboriginal and newcomer organizations
and community members. It fosters improved crosscultural understanding and relations. It promotes and
facilitates collective community-based action to foster
improved relations and social cohesion. It works to
create welcoming and inclusive communities for all
members with a focus on the needs, interests and
contributions of newcomers and Indigenous people.
Finally, BRIDGES applies measures to assess the nature
and strength of these relationships.

program for children. In early August, the SCES utilized
Saskatchewan Arts Board funding to bring in guest
presenters Victor Thunderchild and Pam Cochet of
Prince Albert. They shared some of the history of
Indigenous Peoples in Canada, taught the youth simple
Cree, engaged in drumming and singing in Cree,
learned traditional First Nations games and closed
the last day with a Round Dance. On the last day,
artist Carol Daniels also joined the activities. Victor
later applauded the experience speaking at a SAISIA
conference.
Regarding the Cultural Exchange:

‘‘

Phase 1 of BRIDGES was Blueprints for BRIDGES
with research through literature, interviews and
consultations with the following communities in
Saskatchewan: Prince Albert, Saskatoon, Yorkton and
Regina. Phase 2 entailed a pilot project called Common
Ground in Prince Albert created in partnership with the
Prince Albert Multicultural Council (PAMC), the Indian
and Métis Friendship Centre of Prince Albert (IMFCPA),
the YWCA of Prince Albert, which houses the Regional
Newcomer Centre, and Common Ground project
coordinator Karen Kay. Phase 3 focused on NewcomerIndigenous local project funding. Phase 4 includes
future plans to expand intercultural activities beyond
Indigenous and newcomers.

Overall, the event was a great success.
The children laughed and played and
learned new things and had a good time
learning about other cultures.
- Karen Cay, PA Common Ground
Coordinator

“Overall, the event was a great success. The children
laughed and played and learned new things and had a
good time learning about other cultures,” summarizes
Karen Cay, PA Common Ground Coordinator.

Common Ground Project 2:Talking Tables and
Culture not Costume at Tapestrama
Talking Tables and Culture not Costume are Common
Ground events held in conjunction with the Prince
Albert Multicultural Council’s Tapestrama that took
place September 30 to October 1, 2017. Talking Tables
is an event that mixes the idea of speed dating with
the Human Library. There are several topics discussed
that are common to the human condition to help
the participants very quickly discover how much in
common they with each other. Day 1 of Talking Tables
brought together Indigenous people and immigrants
from the audience of Tapestrama. Day 2 consisted
of conversations between students of the YWCA
Settlement Services and local Indigenous people.
Subjects discussed were childhood, family, hobbies,
goals and fears.

Common Ground Project 1: Cultural Exchange Like last year, Talking Tables was once again a huge
Systemic racism can be addressed when First Nations,
Métis and newcomer youth come together to learn
about Indigenous history and culture. It is important
for newcomers to learn these aspects of the land they
have come to and many urban Aboriginal people are
not well-connected to traditions. The first project
involved a collaboration between Prince Albert
Common Ground and Saskatchewan Cultural Exchange
Society (SCES) through an existing IMFCPA summer

success. Everyone expressed learning from the others
how similar everyone is. Friendships were formed and
great bonding achieved. The immigrants were all Syrian
and they made strong bonds with the people they
spoke with and were making plans amongst themselves
to meet again. This was very heart-warming.
“I learned during this phase a couple of things from
Talking Tables the last two days,” tells Karen Cay,
Common Ground Coordinator, with great conviction.
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‘‘

Regarding Talking Tables
I learned... a couple of things from
Talking Tables...The first lesson is that
people just want an opportunity to talk
to one another in a casual way. The
second lesson is that there is a significant
amount of fear, particularly from the
Muslim community, about how they are
perceived by the community at large.”
- Karen Cay, PA Common Ground
Coordinator

“The first lesson is that people just want an
opportunity to talk to one another in a casual way. The
second lesson is that there is a significant amount of
fear, particularly from the Muslim community, about
how they are perceived by the community at large.”
The inspiration of Culture not Costume was the
divisions created between people because of the
headdress, particularly the Hijab and the First
Nation Chief’s headdress. For this event, the Grand
Chief of the Prince Albert Grand Council as well as
representatives from the Sikh, Muslim, Philippines,
German, Ukrainian and Métis communities were invited
to attend.
Culture not Costume consisted of four presentations
with discussion on the history and significance of
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ethnic wear. Day 1 featured a presentation from the
Philippines and Germany, and day 2 a presentation
on First Nations regalia and eagle feathers along with
a presentation on the Métis sash with a Sash Dance.
The target audience for Culture not Costume was the
community at large. The intent of these presentations
was to begin the process of understanding ethnic wear
as culturally significant and with deep meaning – not as
something to fear and not as a costume.

Moving Forward with BRIDGES
BRIDGES is important to the future of our province. We
are planning to create opportunities for local projects.
All partners recognize our shared history and treaty
relationships, as well as the importance for ongoing
relationship building, cultural reclamation, continuity
and social justice work with Indigenous people and
communities. This reconciliation includes ensuring
that newcomers learn about the history, treaties and
current contributions of Indigenous peoples while
having opportunities for interaction. We begin with a
focus on these two growing, but often marginalized,
populations, with an intention to actively cultivate
relationships between all members of communities.
Note: There are several photos and videos of
all these events on the PA Common Ground
Facebook Page at https://www.facebook.com/
PACommonGroundProject/.

CultureNet Saskatoon
propels BRIDGES program
forward by expanding
networks

‘‘

The BRIDGES partnership was able to support, inform
and link intercultural activities in Saskatoon by hiring a
CultureNet Saskatoon Program Coordinator in February
of 2018. This was made possible through a SaskCulture
Multicultural Initiatives Fund project grant to SAISIA,
with financial and in-kind contributions from AFCS and
MCoS. CultureNet Saskatoon is a network of community
organizations come together to improve cross-cultural
understanding, share knowledge based on BRIDGES
research and organizations’ experience, and connect on
a cultural level. The purpose of CultureNet Saskatoon
is to build relationships between newcomer and
Indigenous organizations and community members
by working towards a more welcoming and inclusive
community in Saskatoon.
“We see old friendships flourish and new relationships
develop, and with that our community grows stronger
through fun and interactive networking events,”

Education and empowerment
for social change
Righting Relations Regina (RRR) is a part of a larger
regional and national organization called Righting
Relations. It is a women-led, Pan-Canadian Network in
partnership with the Catherine Donnelly Foundation.
The aim is adult education for social change. Righting
Relations Regina is part of the Western Hub along with
Winnipeg and Edmonton.

We see old friendships flourish and new
relationships develop, and with that our
community grows stronger through fun
and interactive networking events.
- Alicia Buckley, Coordinator, CultureNet
Saskatoon

notes Alicia Buckley, the new project coordinator for
CultureNet Saskatoon. “As the network grows, we
hope to further build a truly inclusive and healthy
community through collaboration, celebrating cultural
similarities that shape friendships and honouring
cultural differences that make our community unique
and vibrant.”
Before the Saskatoon project was formalized, 23
organizations were part of the network. This number
has now reached to over 110 organizations and 200
individuals. This network includes members of the
community, local and regional organizations, provincial
non-profit organizations, ethnocultural and Indigenous
organizations, institutions, government departments,
as well as private and business sectors. Connecting
these organizations through meaningful engagement
works towards reconciliation and enhancing cultural
programming for newcomer and Indigenous people
accessing a variety of services.

the Regina coordinator. MCoS not only participates in
the Circle but also acts as a resource for keeping a
connection with many of the activities of the Regina
community by the sharing of information. In the spring,
the Righting Relations Regina Circle worked on Planning
Alternative Tomorrows with Hope (PATH) to unveil some
of the resources of the Circle, clarity of direction and
choice of activities that are going to be pursued.

MCoS was contracted by Righting Relations Regina
to facilitate the financial operations of RRR, and to
provide some administration, for example, employing
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5. Integration

Integration focuses on facilitating the process newcomers to Canada or a community experience
beyond settlement to become part of their communities. It includes seeing themselves and being
seen as contributors and feeling welcome to be themselves in many contexts.

Students lead school
assembly focusing on
reconciliation and inclusion

‘‘

Dr. George Ferguson School is committed to the 94 Calls
to Action as set out by the Truth and Reconciliation
Commission (TRC). To that end, students and teachers
felt that hosting an assembly and family gathering
addressing inclusion and reconciliation would be an
excellent way to get information into the community
and establish the school’s commitment to building an
inclusive society. On April 10, 2018, approximately 320
students, 32 staff members and over 30 community
members participated.
“We have many newcomers to Canada in the Glen
Elm Community and we have many Indigenous
people in this community as well. At times, there are
misunderstandings and misconceptions between these
two groups, both within the school and the larger
community,” explains Heather Hedin, educator and
project coordinator for this event. “We hope that
events within our school, that build both understanding
and mutual respect between all different groups, will
help build a more inclusive community.”

‘‘

We hope that events within our school,
that build both understanding and
mutual respect between all different
groups, will help build a more inclusive
community.
- Heather Hedin, Educator and Project
Coordinator

The assembly centered on inclusion and reconciliation;
it was a student-led assembly incorporating many
student led performances. Two senior students
were the emcees, the school choir sang, and the
Grade 6 class presented artwork and writings about
reconciliation in Canada. Elder Hazel Dixon opened
the assembly with a prayer to the Creator and talked
about what reconciliation is and how we all play a role.
Evan Whitestar and the Buffalo Boys Drum Group from
Mother Theresa School in Regina performed, along
with dancers from the school. Whitestar educated the
students and staff about the drum group. He spoke
of its origins, the significance of the drum, how the
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students practice, and the role their culture plays in
their daily lives. The assembly was only a few days
after the tragic Humboldt Broncos bus crash, so the
Buffalo Boys played an honour song to commence the
assembly.

I didn’t know that student was such a
good artist. His drawing made me really
understand the Circle of Courage even
better.
- Grade 6 Student

By having guest speakers, student speakers and peer
performances, students were very engaged and
interested in the content of the assembly. One student
commented on the regalia that one of the dancers
wore, “I was amazed that she made [her regalia]
herself, it was so beautiful and colourful. I loved the
little hearts she sewed into her moccasins.” Another
student commented on the art that was presented from
the Grade 6 class, “I didn’t know that student was such
a good artist. His drawing made me really understand
the Circle of Courage even better.”
The most significant feedback was from Elder Hazel
Dixon who felt the event was well-organized and
she was pleased to see so many family members
come to the assembly, recognizing its importance.
“The following parts of the assembly stood out for
me: acknowledging traditional lands; acknowledging
Treaties and mistakes of the past; the commitment to
move forward in partnership with Indigenous Nations;
inclusion - everyone has value to add; the presentation
of the Mother Theresa Buffalo Boys Drum group and
the dancers; the honour song by the group for the
Humboldt tragedy; and the story of the Canada Goose.
There is diversity at this school and it is my pleasure
and honour to be the Elder. We are more alike than
we are different,” says Elder Hazel Dixon with great
respect and wisdom.
Overall, this event was a huge success. Teachers said
students were talking about the performances in class
and they said that it allowed for open and honest
discussions in class about inclusion. This event helped
the school reach its goals of working towards the TRC
Calls to Action and incorporating Indigenous ways of
knowing into school gatherings.
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Newcomer and
Indigenous youth learn
about integration and
intercultural connections

‘‘

Forty-Seven newcomer and Indigenous teenagers joined
a new program to learn about non-profit organizations,
community service, basic project management. They
worked together in intercultural teams to design,
implement and report on their community projects
from January to May 2018. The result was six volunteer
community-based projects and a five-month experience
with Youth INVOLVE (Integrating New Volunteers
with Opportunities to Add Leadership Value through
Education).
Youth INVOLVE is a volunteer leadership program in
the context of Youth BRIDGES (Building Relationships
through Intercultural Dialogue and Growing
Engagement in Saskatchewan). It is a partnership
between North Central Family Centre (NCFC),
Multicultural Council of Saskatchewan (MCoS) and
Regina Open Door Society (RODS). The program aims to
build leadership volunteers for the present and future
by bringing local teenagers together to experience
cross-cultural communication, share their traditions,
values, practices and beliefs, learn about others, and
make a difference in their communities.
Six community projects took shape from this base,
reflecting important issues that the young participants
see in their communities and their proposed actions
to address them. The first project team, Welcome to
Canada, offered a warm welcome to refugee families
while the second project team, Community Care,
provided them with basic care packages. These two
groups worked together to explain Treaty relationships
to these newcomers and facilitate conversation
circles. “I loved it! It was so fun and I made a lot of
new friends and [got to] know them more,” Jamila
Ahmadzai from Afghanistan expresses excitedly. Smile
for Kids was the third project team. Younger NCFC
members enjoyed three days of fun exploring the
Royal Saskatchewan Museum and making friends at a
BBQ party and McDonald’s as facilitated by this team.
Fourteen-year-old Jenna Lafontaine from NCFC, one
of the group members, told the story, “I helped at the

I loved it! It was so fun and I made a lot
of new friends and [got to know] them
more.
- Jamila Ahmadzai, Youth INVOLVE
Participant and Newcomer Youth
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This made me happy helping other
people. It was fun working with people I
don’t know.
- Cavetta Eaglechild, Youth INVOLVE
Participant and Indigenous Youth

NCFC. I worked with the littles. We took them to the
museum because the littles barely get to do anything
while at the centre… [and] I got to meet different
people from different cultures.”
Meanwhile, the fourth project team, Clothes Donation,
were thrilled to collect boxes of donated clothes and
bring them to the Soul’s Harbour for people living in
poverty. Cavetta Eaglechild from NCFC shares, “This
made me happy helping other people. It was fun
working with people I don’t know.” Young volunteers of
the fifth project team, Humane Society Helpers, also
had a busy day bringing donations of dog and cat food,
and cleaning products to the Humane Society, where
they enjoyed interactive moments with the animals to
help prepare them for adoption, impressing the staff.
The sixth project team, Food Donation Campaign,
donated bags of foods to the Regina Food Bank. They
also helped at the greenhouse, which they had longed
to do since the Youth INVOLVE kicked off.
“The work that these incredible future leaders have
achieved through these small projects is a beautiful
example of both the intercultural connections and
integration streams of multicultural work,” proudly
states project coordinator Thuy Truong. The projects
focus on facilitating the process for all people,
especially those often marginalized, to have their
community contributions recognized while building
healthy and respectful relationships for today and for
the future.
The program ended with a celebration feast and
round dance with Elder Archie Weenie. “I had two
heart-warming intercultural moments at the feast”,
says Rhonda Rosenberg, “First, when Mushum Archie
expressed his respect for the Muslim teens observing
the Ramadan fast and connecting it to First Nations
spiritual fasting practices, and second, when he invited
some of the newcomer boys to learn to play the hand
drum for a round dance. After one traditional song of
solidarity and friendship, he invited everyone to dance
as they wished. RODS staff and youth started a Gujarati
folk dance that we joyfully joined.”
Youth BRIDGES and Youth INVOLVE allow young people
to take leadership and demonstrate Saskatchewan’s
and MCoS’ motto, From Many People’s Strength. From
this perspective, Youth BRIDGES continues to run with
new ideas and partnerships in the years ahead. We

are grateful for the ongoing support of SaskCulture
and Saskatchewan Lotteries, for sponsorship from
Affinity Credit Union, and to Immigration, Refugees and

Citizenship Canada for the financial support that makes
this program possible.

Welcome to Canada Team

Community Care Team

Community Care Team

Smile for Kids Team

Clothes Donation Team

Humane Society Helpers Team

Food Donation Campaign Team

2018 Youth INVOLVE Group with Presenters
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It takes a province to create
welcoming and inclusive
communities
Canada 150 Project shows Saskatchewan
Communities how to become Welcoming and
Inclusive for All
For the Multicultural Council of Saskatchewan (MCoS),
recognizing Canada 150 means our involvement must
be respectful, acknowledging the harms of colonialism,
current reconciliation efforts and appreciating the
contributions of diversity in all its forms. A Canada
150 project materialized that speaks to the future of
Canadian diversity and paves the way for our continued
success. By design, this project engages the province
of Saskatchewan one community and organization at
a time. The project is #WelcomeHome150: Creating
Welcoming and Inclusive Communities (WIC).

Blueprint for inclusivity and diversity
Our audiences for the WIC project are Saskatchewan
communities and organizations and our main goal
is to provide resources to enable them to become
welcoming and inclusive for all. This project strives to
facilitate a deeper understanding of Canadian history
and set the foundation for a positive future by sharing
experiences between diverse populations and cultures.
MCoS encourages Saskatchewan municipalities,
organizations and corporations, big and small, to
participate in our WIC initiatives.
Welcoming and inclusive communities are free from
discrimination; they are where residents feel able
to participate in all aspects of the social, economic,
cultural, and civic/political life of the municipality.
Like all social change, it starts with a personal
commitment; it starts with you. MCoS encourages you
to take the #WelcomeHome150 Pledge and utilize the
WIC Toolkit as a guide for creating welcoming and
inclusive communities and organizations.
MCoS Executive Director, Rhonda Rosenberg,
in conversation with members and partners,
conceptualized WIC and secured the Canada 150
funding. To execute the project, MCoS hired an
energetic, socially adept and passionate human rights
activist named Jamal-e-Fatima Rafat. She brought the
WIC project to life, working tirelessly to share WIC
tools across Saskatchewan and ensure that its legacy
remains intact.
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Community leaders create connections

It takes a province to create welcoming and inclusive
communities. We achieve this by engaging provincial
leaders such as the Saskatchewan Urban Municipalities
Association (SUMA), who is collaborating with MCoS
to endorse and promote our Welcoming and Inclusive
Communities Toolkit to its members. MCoS also
focused on developing and enhancing relationships
with Réseau en Immigration Francophone (RIF-SK),
Saskatchewan History and Folklore Society, Prince
Albert Multicultural Council, City of Yorkton, Common
Weal Community Arts, and Southeast Newcomer
Services, in order to compile resources for the WIC
Toolkit. These relationships gave MCoS opportunities
to interact with various municipalities and townships
across the province on a personal level ensuring that
they understand the significance of the WIC project
and enabling the WIC Toolkit to be distributed directly
to them.

WIC project is successful
Over eighteen months, the impact of the Welcoming
and Inclusive Communities project has been far
reaching:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Over 380 Welcome Home 150 Pledges taken;
Over 20 community events attended;
47 trained intercultural facilitators in 10 cities and
towns in Saskatchewan;
40 new connections made (including sport, culture
and recreation districts, municipalities, settlement
agencies and immigration gateways);
15 new small and larger partnerships developed;
200 Welcoming and Inclusive Communities Toolkits
distributed both in English and French;
Multiple MCoS and community initiatives supported
through participation and funding;
Four feature magazine articles (SOS Children’s,
PINK!, Engage and Urban Voice);
Television, radio, print and digital advertising as
well as media interviews; and
Extensive social media content and advertising
(Facebook, Instagram, Twitter, LinkedIn).

To date, 20 communities who are committing to
creating welcoming and inclusive communities have
adopted the WIC Toolkit and its ideas. The Town of
Indian Head that recently sponsored its first refugee
is demonstrating successful integration with the WIC
Toolkit. The Village of Elbow has taken the pledge
and took leadership in creating an MOU with the FSIN.
The Town of Rosthern is well on its way to creating a
welcoming and inclusive community for its residents
by identifying diversity and inclusivity as two of
its core values. The Town of Foam Lake reviewed

its recreational programming through a ‘diversity
lens’ to see which community members are missing
and figure out how to get them involved. Finally,
the City of Prince Albert has adopted an Indigenous
Peoples protocol and a Newcomer and Ethnocultural
Communities protocol.

The legacy will live on
The idea of project legacy for Canada 150 is key,
ensuring this project provides resources for future
generations to continue creating welcoming and
inclusive communities in Saskatchewan. We thank
the Department of Canadian Heritage profusely for
providing the opportunity to kick-start this important
work. MCoS is in constant consultation with our main
funder and supporter, SaskCulture, to strengthen
our relationship, building upon it to solidify the
future of WIC. Partnerships, such as SUMA’s, endorse
the importance and benefits of WIC, while allowing

us to reach our intended audiences – communities
and organizations; we are extremely honoured and
grateful for SUMA’s engagement and support. MCoS
continues to work closely with Museums Association
of Saskatchewan, Heritage Saskatchewan, as well as
several sports, culture and recreation districts and
settlement agencies across Saskatchewan to implement
the WIC Toolkit. The WIC project legacy will live
on through our funders, partners, facilitators and
audiences.

You can create welcoming and inclusive
communities
1. Learn about the project: http://mcos.ca/
welcomehome150/
2. Take the Pledge: http://mcos.ca/welcome-150Pledge
3. Download the Toolkit: http://mcos.ca/welcomingand-inclusive-communities-Toolkit/
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6. All Streams of Multicultural Work
The following events demonstrate all five streams of multicultural work.

Who is your
#MulticulturalSuperhero?
We celebrate Saskatchewan Multicultural Week each
November during the week that includes November 22.
During this week, MCoS celebrates both the benefits of
and contributions to multiculturalism in our province.
We do this by focusing on the multicultural values of
Respect for Diversity, Recognition and Rejection of
Racism, Intercultural Connections and Integration,
which are the cornerstones that inform our work and
by engaging in the five streams of multicultural work:
Cultural Continuity, Celebration of Diversity, AntiRacism, Intercultural Connections and Integration.

The media took interest in what we were doing and
we received 10 media stories and interviews. The
Saskatchewan School Board Association sent out
information in November to our key audience of
educators. Once again, the Ministry of Parks, Culture
and Sport issued a provincial proclamation, supplied
a statement for the Multicultural Honours program
and a quote for the news release. Minister Makowsky
shared information about the week and Legislative
Secretary Docherty introduced MCoS board, staff and
Honours nominees and recipients in the legislature in
recognition of their work in making multiculturalism
matter.

About the campaign
MCoS runs a provincial public education campaign
annually focusing on a theme and activity. This year, we
carried on the popularity and inspiration of superheroes
in mainstream culture and applied the concept to
our campaign using a multicultural lens. We invited
Saskatchewan to celebrate by telling us who their
multicultural superheroes are and why. Multicultural
superheroes promote multicultural values. Multicultural
Superheroes can include any person or group of
people, real or fictitious, who inspires you with their
super powers for respect and inclusion. A Multicultural
Superhero is someone who: 1) protects and celebrates
all cultures, 2) proudly embraces and shares traditions,
3) battles “villains” such as racism, discrimination,
disrespectful ideologies, oppressive social systems and
institutions, 4) leaps tall barriers to build bridges for
intercultural connections, 5) activates a power magnet
to draw diverse people together for creative innovation
and 6) demonstrates super vision and strength to
achieve equality and equity for all.

Saskatchewan gets involved
Each year, MCoS invites communities across
Saskatchewan to join in celebrating and recognizing
Saskatchewan Multicultural Week by way of
proclamation. The following communities proclaimed
November 18-26, 2017 as Saskatchewan Multicultural
Week: Battleford, Elbow, Province of Saskatchewan,
Kamsack, Meadow Lake, Prince Albert, Rosetown,
Tisdale and Yorkton.

42

Our work supports the Saskatchewan
Multiculturalism Act
MCoS supports the Saskatchewan Multiculturalism
Act ensuring it is carried out in our work and our
members’ activities. Saskatchewan was the first
province to enact multiculturalism legislation in 1974,
recognizing the right of every community to retain its
identity, language and traditional arts and sciences

for the mutual benefit of citizens. In 1997, the Act
was revised and a section of the Act states the policy
should preserve, strengthen and promote Aboriginal
cultures and acknowledge their historic and current
contribution to development of Saskatchewan.
Responsibility for the Act resides with the Ministry of
Parks, Culture and Sport, Minister Gene Makowsky.
The Act states broadly the provincial multiculturalism
policy and provides the Minister power to carry out the
purposes of the Act. MCoS has been instrumental in
the development and promotion of these multicultural
values.

Multicultural Honours: Personifies
Multicultural Superheroes
On Saturday, November 18, 2017 in the beautiful and
sacred surroundings of Wanuskewin Heritage Park, over
60 people gathered to honour volunteers who have
made significant contributions to multiculturalism in
Saskatchewan. This annual event is the highlight of
Saskatchewan Multicultural Week. This week recognizes
that Saskatchewan was the first province in Canada
to enact multicultural legislation. We celebrate our
strength in diversity and recognize that our cultures
enrich all aspects of life in our province.
Jebunnessa Chapola, past recipient of the Betty
Szuchewycz Award, was the Master of Ceremonies.
Harvey Knight, MCoS Board member and member of
Muskoday First Nation, commenced the event with
a blessing. We were pleased Mr. David Buckingham,
MLA for Saskatoon Westview, joined us and brought
remarks on behalf of the Minister for Parks, Culture
and Sport, who is responsible for the Saskatchewan
Multiculturalism Act. MCoS President Asit Sarkar
provided opening remarks and introduced the video
and spoken word presentation.
The presentation highlighted this year’s public
campaign. For the video, we created a 30-second ad
that featured Janelle Pewapsconias, 2015 recipient of
the Multicultural Youth Leadership Award, sharing her
multicultural superhero, Zoey Pricelys Roy. Then, Zoey
replied live by sharing her multicultural superhero,
Kadane Headley, through spoken word. Zoey is a
powerful speaker and her impactful sharing left an
impression on the audience.
Guests were invited to attend a reception following
the program that featured delicious cultural cuisine
created by Wanuskewin Heritage Park Authority
Catering, including Three Sisters Chilli, Bannock and
Saskatoon Berry Tarts. Guests were also welcome to
view an educational public dance performance and
participate in a walking tour of Wanuskewin.

The recognition committee assesses nominees for
both awards and selects recipients based on their
contributions to multiculturalism in Saskatchewan
through the five streams of multicultural work: cultural
continuity, cultural diversity, anti-racism, intercultural
connections and integration.
The Multicultural Council of Saskatchewan was
pleased to present the 2017 Multicultural Youth
Leadership Award in partnership with the Saskatchewan
Government Employees’ Union (SGEU). Roseann
Strelezki, SGEU Secretary-Treasurer, brought remarks
and introduced the award. SGEU also generously
donated a $500 reward.
Bwe Doh Soe received the 2017 Multicultural Youth
Leadership Award. Bwe arrived in Saskatoon as a
Karen refugee in 2007. Not only has Bwe survived
ethnic cleansing and life as a refugee, but also he
has become a crusader for the Karen people. He has
been impressively active in continuing and preserving
his own cultural practices and supporting others in
the Karen community. He has more recently begun to
connect his experiences to both Syrian refugees and
Indigenous people in Canada and acted as a leader for
creative conciliation.
Once again, the Multicultural Council of Saskatchewan
presented the 2017 Betty Szuchewycz Award. Renata
Cosic, MCoS Secretary and Chair of the Recognition
Committee, introduced the award and the recipient.
The recipient will select a charity for a donation of
$500 from MCoS.
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Bula Ghosh received the 2017 Betty Szuchewycz
Award. There is no question that Bula’s contributions
to multiculturalism in Saskatchewan have been
outstanding. As an English as a Subsequent
Language instructor in Yorkton and Swift Current,
Bula has ensured that integration efforts go far
beyond the classroom. She has contributed to local
organizations, provincial boards and committees
including SaskCulture, helped revitalize the Southwest
Multicultural Association and she has been recognized
at the national level. Bula never hesitates to
share rural perspectives and she has demonstrated
commitment to relationship building and anti-racism.
Bula has made it known that truth and reconciliation

Education is key to antiracism and reconciliation
work
Moving forward from colonialism and racism hinges
on people being able to have open and honest
conversations. “Frequently people are fearful of
those conversations, for a myriad of reasons. Many
of these reasons are personal, but commonly shared,
such as fear to offend, fear of conflict and fear to
break cultural norms of conversation,” says Education
Coordinator Christine van der Merwe, who observed
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is very much part of a dream that she has for her
community. Bula embodies the five streams of
multicultural work.

Participate and nominate next year
The Multicultural Council of Saskatchewan wishes
to thank everyone for participating in Saskatchewan
Multicultural Week and the MCoS Multicultural Honours
Awards that highlighted some of Saskatchewan’s very
own multicultural superheroes. We encourage everyone
to participate in the next provincial campaign and
awards in November 2018.

these trends the past year when facilitating workshops
and presentations.
MCoS has spent considerable time researching and
developing five educational modules rooted in the
five streams of multicultural work: 1) Intercultural
communications and competence, 2) Cross-cultural
engagement in the community, 3) Diversity in the
workplace, 4) Embracing diversity beyond the surface
and 5) Recognition and rejection of racism. These
modules are presented as workshops by experienced
and trained facilitators that provide participants with
resources, tools and language to have the conversation,
first during the session, and subsequently within their

communities. MCoS is able to tailor each presentation
to the specific needs of the organization and
community.
Since MCoS started facilitating these educational
presentations using the modules, we have delivered
workshops and presentations to varied audiences
such as students in University of Regina Social
Work and Social Justice classes, Carlton Trail
College at Daystar Reserve, the Humboldt Cultural
Services Unit, employees at the Indian Residential
Schools Adjudication Secretariat, attendees at the
Saskatchewan Association of Optometrists’ AGM,
attendees at the Amnesty International’s AGM,
HR personnel from Regina Police Services, Service
Employees’ International Union, newcomer groups in
Prince Albert, employer groups in Swift Current, the
Museums Association of Saskatchewan, and staff and
board members from the Cathedral Area Daycare. We
are excited to continue our relationships with these
organizations and communities as well as build new
ones moving forward.

‘‘

We have also received very positive and encouraging
feedback and comments from participants, letting us
know that we are on the right track and that this type
of education is wanted and needed in our communities.
“The workshop was helpful because the participant
believes that “you should use the difficult words and
create conversations about white privilege.”

The information gathered from the
workshop can be discussed in the staff
meeting, parents meeting and the daily
program.
- Workshop Participant

“I just wanted to say thank you personally. I felt
what you said was really important and people seem
to forget that. So, thank you for making people think
about it again.”
“I will be seeking out Indigenous voices on use of the
word ‘reconciliation’.”
“The information gathered from the workshop can be
discussed in the staff meeting, parents meeting and the
daily program.”
MCoS presenters create safe spaces for conversations
and for voices to be heard. We are ready to help
you move your organization forward through our
educational modules and presentations.
For more information on the five educational modules
and to download our educational services brochure,
visit http://mcos.ca/education.
To make an inquiry or book a presentation contact our
educational coordinator at education@mcos.ca.
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Rhonda
Rosenberg, at exec@mcos.ca.
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Treasurer’s Message
I am pleased to
share with you the
2017-18 Audited
Financial Statements.
They demonstrate
a commitment to
working with our
members and partners
to achieve our vision
that multiculturalism
is central to life in
Saskatchewan. The stories we share in this annual
report indicate that we invest in activities and
programs that deliver on the strategic measures.
The financial statements also show sound financial
management and the auditor’s unqualified opinion that
the financial statements are accurate and reflect the
true financial position of the Multicultural Council of
Saskatchewan.

lottery ticket sales. It is also helpful to let your
MLAs know the types of activities you are able to
offer as a result of lottery funding.
•

We are pleased to have successfully completed
the Welcoming and Inclusive Communities project
through the Department of Canadian Heritage’s
Canada 150 program. The same federal department
provided Inter-Action funding for March 21
activities.

•

We extend our thanks to the provincial Ministries
of Education and Parks, Culture and Sport for their
contributions to youth leadership, Saskatchewan
Multicultural Week and the March 21 campaign.

•

We continue to invest in activities and projects that
fulfil MCoS Ends. The Allocations Committee and
the Multicultural Education Initiatives Committee
continue to support projects (while wishing they
could offer more). MCoS continues to work with
organizations that receive funding to ensure that
they effectively advance multicultural values and
report in a way that demonstrates the contribution.
MCoS sponsors activities that support our mandate
and offer significant promotional opportunities.

•

The net surplus of $18,948 is the result of strong
revenues and careful stewardship balanced
with strategic investment in MCoS member and
partnership activities.

There are a number of points I will highlight in the
Financial Statements:
•

•

On the Statement of Financial Position (page 3),
you will see two restricted funds. The internally
restricted fund is the organizational reserve. It
now has just over $50,000, and we add $10,000
annually. It is to be used in the event of a drastic
reduction of funding or other emergent event.
These funds must come from self-generated
revenue, so that grants can be used for specific
program purposes. Sources include Multifaith
Calendar sales, education revenue, registrations,
memberships and donations. The externally
restricted Fund is a donation from the Sarkar family
for the specific use of recognizing and supporting
community reconciliation through respect and
sharing. These explanations are found in Note 2.
We are grateful to SaskCulture and Saskatchewan
Lotteries for the Annual Global Funding. It is a
sustainable source of operational revenue. (Note
3) The Lotteries Trust Fund supports over 12,000
sport, culture and recreation organizations in
Saskatchewan communities. We have provided a
ticket to all those present at the AGM as a symbolic
reminder that we are grateful for this support
and to let others know that all activities by MCoS
and those in which it invests rely on lotteries. As
SaskCulture is currently in negotiations for the
terms of the next lottery license agreement, please
share that this information about the proceeds of
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We have found that the process MWC Chartered
Professional Accountants uses invites us to continuously
improve our processes. We, therefore, recommend that
they serve as our auditors again for 2018-19.
We are grateful to the professional services at the
Administration Centre for Sport, Culture and Recreation
who support our tracking, monitoring and reporting
of financial transactions. We thank our members
who have supported our financial efforts and our
aim of promoting MCoS’ multicultural values through
purchases of Multifaith Calendars, greeting cards,
and lapel pins, through donations and through buying
lottery tickets and encouraging others to do the same
in order to support the cultural, sport and recreation
sectors.

Meka Okochi, Treasurer

Audited Financial
Statements 2017-18
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

Auditor’s Report

To the Members of Multicultural Council of Saskatchewan Inc.
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Multicultural Council of Saskatchewan Inc.,
which comprise the statement of financial position as at March 31, 2018 and the statements of revenues
and expenditures, changes in net assets and cash flow for the year then ended, and a summary of
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.
Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations, and for such internal
control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditor's Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards
require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the entity's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the financial statements.
We
believe that
the audit
evidence
we have obtained
is sufficient
and
appropriate to provide
a basis for
Independent
Auditor's
Report
to the Members
of Multicultural
Council
of Saskatchewan
Inc. (continued)
our audit opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
Multicultural Council of Saskatchewan Inc. as at March 31, 2018 and the results of its operations and its
cash flow for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit
organizations.
(continues)

Chartered Professional Accountants
Regina, Saskatchewan
June 4, 2018
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Statement of Revenues and Expenditures
Year Ended March 31, 2018

Statement
of
Revenues
MULTICULTURAL COUNCIL OF SASKATCHEWAN
and Expenditures
INC.
2018

GRANTS, SPONSORSHIPS AND DONATIONS
Saskatchewan Lotteries Trust Fund
$
Government of Canada Statement of Revenues and Expenditures
Government of Saskatchewan
Year Ended March 31, 2018
Partnership contributions
Donation - restricted
Foundation grant
Sponsorships
Donations - unrestricted
GRANTS,
SPONSORSHIPS AND DONATIONS
ArtsVest
Saskatchewan Lotteries Trust Fund
$
Government of Canada
Government of Saskatchewan
SELF-GENERATED
Partnership contributions
Education- services
Donation
restricted(Schedule 1)
Sales
Foundation
grant
Cost recoveries
Sponsorships
Memberships
Donations
- unrestricted
Other
ArtsVest
Interest income
SELF-GENERATED
Education services (Schedule 1)
Sales
EXPENSES
Cost recoveries
Administration (Schedule 2)
Memberships
Corporate business (Schedule 3)
Other
Meetingsincome
(Schedule 4)
Interest
Programs and services (Schedule 5)
Public relations and communications (Schedule 6)

EXCESS OF REVENUES (EXPENSES)
EXPENSES
Administration (Schedule 2)
Corporate business (Schedule 3)
Meetings (Schedule 4)
Programs and services (Schedule 5)
Public relations and communications (Schedule 6)

$

494,000
159,250
17,500
16,500
6,222
3,200
2018
500
475
494,000
697,647
159,250
17,500
16,500
15,981
6,222
9,020
3,200
5,642
500
4,010
475
1,244
33
697,647
35,930

2017

$

$

733,577
15,981
9,020
5,642
349,129
4,010
9,333
1,244
28,413
33
288,791
38,963
35,930

709,071
20,918
8,937
8,441
326,162
3,625
8,248
868
27,699
7
263,434
46,414
42,796

714,629
733,577

671,957
709,071

18,948
349,129
9,333
28,413
288,791
38,963

$

714,629
EXCESS OF REVENUES (EXPENSES)

$

485,000
132,850
17,500
11,250
201710,606
933
8,136
485,000
666,275
132,850
17,500
11,250
20,918
8,937
8,441
10,606
3,625
933
868
8,136
7
666,275
42,796

18,948

37,114
326,162
8,248
27,699
263,434
46,414
671,957

$

37,114

See notes to financial statements
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Statement of Changes in Net Assets
Year Ended March 31, 2018

Statement of Changes
in Net Assets

General
Fund

Restricted
Fund

Sarkar Family
Fund

2018
2017
MULTICULTURAL COUNCIL OF SASKATCHEWAN
INC.
NET ASSETS BEGINNING OF
YEAR
Excess of revenues
(expenses)
Interfund transfer

NET ASSETS - END OF
YEAR
NET ASSETS BEGINNING OF
YEAR
Excess of revenues
(expenses)
Interfund transfer
NET ASSETS - END OF
YEAR

$

Statement
39,976 $of Changes
40,010 in
$ Net Assets
$
Year Ended March 31, 2018

79,986 $

42,872

18,948
-

37,114
-

12,693
33
6,222
(10,000)
10,000
General
Restricted Sarkar Family
Fund
Fund
Fund
$
42,669 $
50,043 $
6,222 $

2018
98,934 $

2017
79,986

$

79,986 $

42,872

$

39,976 $
12,693
(10,000)

$

42,669 $

40,010 $

-

33
10,000

6,222
-

18,948
-

37,114
-

50,043 $

6,222 $

98,934 $

79,986

See notes to financial statements
MWC Chartered Professional Accountants LLP
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Statement of Cash Flow
Year Ended March 31, 2018

MULTICULTURAL COUNCIL OF SASKATCHEWAN
2018
2017
INC.

Statement of Cash Flow
Statement of Cash Flow
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Excess of revenues (expenses)
Year Ended March 31, 2018
Item not affecting cash:
Amortization of capital assets

Changes inACTIVITIES
non-cash working capital:
OPERATING
Accounts
receivable
Excess
of revenues
(expenses)
Accounts
payable
Item
not affecting
cash:
Deferred
revenue
Amortization
of capital assets
Prepaid expenses
Goods and services tax recoverable
Wages payable
Changes
non-cash
working capital:
Currentinportion
of agreement
payable
Accounts receivable
Accounts payable
Deferred revenue
Cash
flow from
operating activities
Prepaid
expenses
Goods and services tax recoverable
FINANCING
WagesACTIVITY
payable
Agreement
payable
Current portion
of agreement payable

$

18,948

$

5,125
2018
24,073
$

INCREASE IN CASH FLOW

(19,336)
18,948
(4,213)
5,275
5,125
6,145
24,073
367
4,503
(19,336)
(4,213)
(7,259)
5,275
16,814
6,145
367
4,503
-

5,125
2017
42,239
$

16,814
(7,259)

CASH
- BEGINNING
OF YEAR
Cash
flow from operating
activities
CASH
- ENDACTIVITY
OF YEAR
FINANCING
Agreement payable
CASH CONSISTS OF:
Cash
INCREASE IN CASH FLOW
Cash - restricted funds
CASH - BEGINNING OF YEAR
CASH - END OF YEAR
CASH CONSISTS OF:
Cash
Cash - restricted funds

37,114

13,302
37,114
20,568
237,000
5,125
(4,992)
42,239
(2,065)
12,975
(5,125)
13,302
20,568
271,663
237,000
313,902
(4,992)
(2,065)
12,975
(5,125)
308,777
271,663

365,017
16,814

56,240
313,902

$

381,831
-

$

365,017
(5,125)

$

325,566
16,814
56,265
365,017
381,831
381,831

$

325,007
308,777
40,010
56,240
365,017
365,017

$
$

$
$

$

325,566
56,265

$

325,007
40,010

$

381,831

$

365,017

See notes to financial statements
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MULTICULTURAL COUNCIL OF SASKATCHEWAN
INC.

Notes to Financial Statements
Notes to Financial Statements
Year Ended March 31, 2018

1.

NATURE OF OPERATIONS
The Multicultural Council of Saskatchewan (the "Council") is a Registered Charity and is incorporated
under the Not-for-Profit Act of Saskatchewan and is exempt from income taxes under section 149 of
the Canadian Income Tax Act. The Council serves Saskatchewan through various programs that
raise awareness of the benefits of cultural diversity and the dangers of racism.

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of presentation
The financial statements were prepared in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for notfor-profit organizations (ASNFPO).
Fund Accounting
The Council has the following funds at yearend:
The General fund reports the day-to-day operations of the Council.
The Restricted fund is internally restricted by the Board of Directors to provide for the future
sustainability of the Council in the event of a change in funding. These funds can only be used upon
approval by the Board of Directors. The Council has approved an annual transfer of $10,000 from the
operating surplus.
The Sarkar Family Fund is an externally restricted fund which requires that the original contribution of
$6,222 be maintained in perpetuity, unless altered by mutual agreement by the donor and the
Council. The capital may be invested and any annual earnings, not used by the Council for costs of
administering the fund, are to be distributed to recognize and support activities in the area of
Community Reconciliation through Respect and Sharing.
Revenue recognition
The Council follows the deferral method of accounting for contributions, which include grants,
donations and sponsorships. Restricted contributions are recognized as revenue in the year the
related expenses are incurred. Unrestricted contributions are recognized as revenue when received
or receivable if the amount can be reasonably estimated and collection is reasonably assured.
Sales, education, partnership contributions, other fundraising, memberships and interest income are
recognized when services are provided or the income is earned.
Capital assets
Capital assets are recorded at cost at the time of acquisition and are amortized at the following rates.
A full year is taken in the year of acquisition.
Leasehold improvements

3 years

straight-line method
(continues)
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MULTICULTURAL COUNCIL OF SASKATCHEWAN
INC.

Notes to Financial Statements
Notes to Financial Statements
Year Ended March 31, 2018
2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments policy
Financial instruments are recorded at fair value when acquired or issued. In subsequent periods,
financial assets with actively traded markets are reported at fair value, with any unrealized gains and
losses reported in income. All other financial instruments are reported at amortized cost, and tested
for impairment at each reporting date. Transaction costs on the acquisition, sale, or issue of financial
instruments are expensed when incurred.
Financial assets including cash, restricted fund and accounts receivable are reported at amortized
cost.
Financial liabilities including accounts payable and accrued liabilities are measured at amortized cost.

3.

ECONOMIC DEPENDENCE
The Council is economically dependent on the grant revenue from Saskatchewan Lotteries Trust
Fund. Should this funding substantially change, management is of the opinion that continuing viable
operations would be doubtful.

4.

CAPITAL ASSETS
Cost
Leasehold improvements

5.

$

2018
Net book
value

Accumulated
amortization

15,375

$

15,375

$

-

2017
Net book
value
$

DEFERRED REVENUE
2018
Saskatchewan Lotteries Trust
subsequent year funding
Memberships

6.

5,125

Fund

-

advance

on

2017

$

242,000
525

$

237,000
250

$

242,525

$

237,250

LEASE COMMITMENTS
The Council entered into an three year lease agreement with respect to office space, effective June
1, 2015. Under the lease, the Council is contractually obligated to meet the following minimum lease
payments:
2019
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$

4,000

MULTICULTURAL COUNCIL OF SASKATCHEWAN
INC.

Notes to Financial Statements
Notes to Financial Statements
Year Ended March 31, 2018

7.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The Council is exposed to various risks through its financial instruments and management is
responsible to monitor, evaluate and manage these risks. The following analysis provides
information about the Council's risk exposure and concentration as of March 31, 2018.
Credit risk
Credit risk arises from the potential that a counter party will fail to perform its obligations. The
Council is exposed to credit risk from members and customers. An allowance for doubtful accounts
is established based upon factors surrounding the credit risk of specific accounts, historical trends
and other information. The Council has a significant number of customers which minimizes
concentration of credit risk.
Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with
financial liabilities. The Council is exposed to this risk mainly in respect of its receipt of funds from its
funders and customers, obligations under leases and accounts payable.
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MULTICULTURAL COUNCIL OF SASKATCHEWAN
Schedules
1, 2 and
3
INC.
Education Services Revenue

(Schedule 1)

Year Ended March 31, 2018
2018
Workshop fees
Intercultural Facilitator Training Session

2017

$

15,981
-

$

11,262
9,656

$

15,981

$

20,918

Administration Expenses

(Schedule 2)

Year Ended March 31, 2018
2018
Staff salaries and benefits
Office
Amortization of capital assets

2017

$

301,069
42,935
5,125

$

275,266
45,771
5,125

$

349,129

$

326,162

Corporate Business Expenses

(Schedule 3)

Year Ended March 31, 2018
2018
Audit and accounting services
Insurance
Legal
Memberships

2017

$

8,377
585
15
356

$

7,452
585
10
201

$

9,333

$

8,248

Meetings Expenses

(Schedule 4)

Year Ended March 31, 2018
2018
Annual general meetings
Board and staff development
Board meetings
Membership meetings
Staff travel
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2017

$

7,357
1,872
13,835
744
4,605

$

7,767
5,050
10,187
1,101
3,594

$

28,413

$

27,699

Audit and accounting services
Insurance
Audit and accounting services
Legal
Insurance
Memberships
Legal
Memberships

$
$

8,377
585
8,377
15
585
356
15
356
9,333
9,333

$
$

7,452
585
7,452
10
585
201
10
201
8,248
8,248

Schedules 4, 5 and 6
$
$

Meetings Expenses
Meetings Expenses
Year Ended March 31, 2018
Year Ended March 31, 2018

$
$

(Schedule 4)
(Schedule 4)
2018
2018
$
$

Annual general meetings
Board
staff meetings
development
Annualand
general
Board meetings
and staff development
Membership
meetings
Board meetings
Staff
travel meetings
Membership
Staff travel

$
$

7,357
1,872
7,357
13,835
1,872
744
13,835
4,605
744
4,605
28,413
28,413

2017
2017
$
$

$
$

7,767
5,050
7,767
10,187
5,050
1,101
10,187
3,594
1,101
3,594
27,699
27,699

MULTICULTURAL COUNCIL OF SASKATCHEWAN
See notes to financial statements
INC.
See notes to financial statements
MWC Chartered Professional Accountants LLP
Programs and Services Expenses
MWC Chartered Professional Accountants LLP

Year Ended March 31, 2018

2018
Education initiatives
Member development
Multicultural events
Intercultural connections
Regional multicultural councils
March 21 activities
Sask multicultural week
Strategic initiatives
Partnership projects
Welcoming and inclusive communities
Youth leadership activities

11
11

(Schedule 5)

2017

$

10,008
940
804
21,822
14,000
35,269
19,458
35,300
4,407
135,951
10,832

$

9,850
771
419
12,364
9,500
41,007
18,330
43,700
5,228
106,215
16,050

$

288,791

$

263,434

Public Relations and Communication Expenses

(Schedule 6)

Year Ended March 31, 2018
2018
Multifaith calendar
Advertising and promotion
Sponsorship
Website and social media

2017

$

5,951
10,129
22,000
883

$

6,540
17,332
19,000
3,542

$

38,963

$

46,414
59

Notes
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The Multicultural Council of Saskatchewan rents the use of the boardroom located at 454 Albert Street
North, Regina, Saskatchewan. You can request a paper form or fill it online at mcos.ca.

Rental includes:
 Member rate: $50 per day / $10 per hour ( Non-member rate is x2)
 Boardroom that seats up to 15 people
 Full kitchen available
 Bathroom
 Projector and white wall
 Wireless connection
 Climate control
 Ample free parking
The following terms and conditions apply to all board room rentals:
 A damage deposit of $100 is required upon signing the contract. The deposit is refunded following the
event less any cleaning or damage fees assessed.
 The board room is available for use outside of regular office hours and weekends.
 The Renter is responsible for any and all damage to the facilities and/or contents and fixtures.
 The use of open flames or candles in the board room is prohibited.
 Please do not bring alcoholic beverages inside. Smoking is not permitted inside or immediately outside
the building. This includes all tobacco, e-cigarettes & vapes.
 Maintain the cleanliness of the board room, returning it to the state in which it is found: garbage and
recycling must be placed in provided bins, all dirty dishes cleaned, and chairs returned to their proper
place around the board room table. You are welcome to use the dishwasher.
 Thumbtacks, staples or adhesives of any kind are not permitted on any walls, doors or other painted
surfaces anywhere in the board room. Post-it notes and flip chart pages are acceptable.
 Keys must be returned in the mail slot after your meeting/event.
For more information about our boardroom rental, email mcos@mcos.ca or call 306-721-6267.
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Multicultural Council
of Saskatchewan
452 Albert Street N. Regina, SK S4R 3C1
P: (306) 721-MCoS (6267)
F: (306) 721-3342
E: mcos@mcos.ca

mcos.ca
Treaty 4 Territory and Homeland of the Métis

FUNDING PROVIDED BY

AKING
ULTICULTURALISM
ATTER
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Since
1975

